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Dear Shareholders, 

2016 was a transformational year for Hamilton Thorne as we completed a significant expansion of 
both our financial profile and business capabilities when we acquired Embryotech Laboratories in 
September.  

In addition to enhancing revenue and profitability from the Embryotech acquisition, we were 
pleased to have achieved over 10% year over year sales growth in our base instruments business in 
the human clinical market, despite continued foreign exchange headwinds as well as changes in 
distributor relationships in certain markets. Gross profit margins for the year improved to over 65% 
as, despite some significant pricing actions to reflect currency issues, we increased sales of high-
margin software, consumables and services with recurring revenues. To accelerate our sales growth 
and get closer to our customers, we continue to put more investment into direct sales resources in 
both our instrument and services businesses. 

Sales for the year increased 16% to a record $10.5 million, led by strong growth in sales of our 
LYKOS® clinical laser systems, as well as increased revenues from after sale services and a growing 
contribution from testing services and consumables sales from our Embryotech business. Fourth 
quarter sales grew 39% to $3.65 million versus the same quarter in the prior year, driven in large 
part by a full quarter of Embryotech sales.  

For the year, we reported a net income of $679,000, EBITDA of $1.26 million and EPS of $0.01 per 
share, including the effect of $271,000 of one-time expenses relating to the Embryotech acquisition. 
Cash flow from operations was $990,000, and we ended the year with $1.8 million in cash. 

2016 Business Highlights 

In June 2016, Hamilton Thorne joined founding members Illumina, Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, 
Germany, and Genea as a new member of the Global Fertility Alliance, a collaboration to 
advance excellence in fertility technologies and processes within the human ART laboratory. 

In September, we purchased Embryotech Laboratories, a leader in providing quality control 
services and testing assays to the human ART community. The acquisition was accretive to 
earnings in 2016. 



The Company introduced several new software modules for our CASA systems, including a
new, easy-to-use, Remote Capture System for the animal ART market, an Internal Quality 
Control module, and other improvements for the human market. 

Hamilton Thorne continues to strengthen its IP position. In 2016, the Company received a US 
patent (Continuation in Part) covering our multi-wavelength Laser Assembly for Use with a 
Microscope. 

In 2016, our products were referenced by customers at world-leading clinics, research labs 
and academic institutions in over 200 papers from prestigious journals such as Fertility and 
Sterility, Cryobiology, Human Reproduction, Journal of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics, 
Theriogenology, Cell Stem Cell, and Reproductive Toxicology. 

Outlook 

We are optimistic that the growth drivers in our business - demographic trends driving demand in 
human fertility market, coupled with our focus on organic growth, new product and service 
innovation, and expanding the breadth of the products and services that we offer through a strategy 
of selective acquisitions of complementary products and companies - will serve us well for many 
years to come. 

In April of 2017, we completed the acquisition of Gynemed GmbH and Co., based in Lensahn, 
Germany. Gynemed is a leading manufacturer and distributor of consumables and equipment for 
the IVF clinic and laboratory markets. This acquisition results in the significant expansion of our 
product offerings and provides us with profitable operations in the well-established European ART 
market.  In 2016, Gynemed generated revenues of approximately $9.6 million, Net Income of 
approximately $2.4 million, and normalized EBITDA of approximately $2.3 million. We 
simultaneously raised approximately $9.2 million in equity financing and expanded our senior credit 
facility with an additional $4 million term note. 

With continued positive cash flow from operations, enhanced by our April 2017 equity financing, we 
improved our $1.8 million year-end cash position to approximately $5 million and are well 
positioned to continue investing for growth through the acceleration of our acquisition program. 

On behalf of the Board and the management team, we would like to thank our shareholders for 
your continued support of Hamilton Thorne and look forward to updating you on our progress. 

Sincerely, 

 

David Wolf 
Chief Executive Officer 

 
 
 
 
Meg Spencer 
Chairman of the Board 
 

For additional financial information, corporate videos and investor communications, please visit our 
investor relations webpage at https://www.hamiltonthorne.com.  
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Hamilton Thorne Ltd.  
Management Discussion and Analysis  

December 31, 2016  

The following discussion and analysis of the operations, results, and financial position of Hamilton Thorne Ltd. (the 
“Company”) for the quarter and year ended December 31, 2015 should be read in conjunction with the Company’s 
December 31, 2016 audited consolidated financial statements and the related notes thereto. Such consolidated 
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). All financial figures are in United States 
(US) dollars unless otherwise indicated.  The effective date of this report is April 27, 2017. 

Forward-Looking Statements  

Certain statements in this management discussion and analysis ("MD&A") may constitute “forward-looking” 
statements which involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, which may cause the actual 
results, performance or achievements of the Company and its subsidiary, or the industry in which they operate, to 
be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such 
forward-looking statements. When used in this report, the words “estimate”, “believe”, “anticipate”, “intend”, 
“expect”, “plan”, “may”, “should”, “will”, the negative thereof or other variations thereon or comparable 
terminology are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements reflect the 
current expectations of the management of the Company with respect to future events based on currently 
available information and are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results, performance or 
achievements to differ materially from those expressed or implied by those forward-looking statements, such as 
significant changes in market conditions, the inability of the Company to close sales and the inability of the 
Company to attract sufficient financing and including the risk factors summarized below under the heading “Risk 
Factors.” New risk factors may arise from time to time and it is not possible for management of the Company to 
predict all of those risk factors or the extent to which any factor or combination of factors may cause actual 
results, performance or achievements of the Company to be materially different from those expressed or implied 
in such forward-looking statements. Given these risks and uncertainties, investors should not place undue reliance 
on forward-looking statements as a prediction of actual results. Although the forward-looking statements 
contained in this MD&A are based upon what management believes to be reasonable assumptions, the Company 
cannot assure investors that actual results will be consistent with these forward-looking statements. The forward-
looking statements contained in this MD&A speak only as of the effective date hereof. The Company does not 
undertake or assume any obligation to release publicly any revisions to these forward-looking statements to reflect 
events or circumstances after the effective date hereof or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events, except 
as required by securities legislation. 

Use of Non-IFRS Measures  

The Company has included earnings before interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”) as a 
non-IFRS measure, which is used by management as a measure of financial performance.  EBITDA is not a 
recognized measure under IFRS.  Investors are cautioned that EBITDA should not be construed as an alternative to 
net and comprehensive earnings determined in accordance with IFRS, as an indicator of the Company’s 
performance, or as an alternative to cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities as a measure of 
the Company’s liquidity and cash flows. The Company’s method of calculating EBITDA may differ from the methods 
used by other issuers and, accordingly, the Company’s EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly named 
measures used by other issuers. 
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Description of Operations  

Hamilton Thorne Ltd. is an Ontario corporation currently trading on the TSX Venture Exchange, as a Tier 2 
Corporation, under the stock symbol "HTL." The Company was formed via a Reverse Asset Acquisition ("RAA") of 
Calotto Capital Inc. on October 28, 2009 and commenced trading on November 5, 2009. 

Hamilton Thorne is a leading provider of laboratory instruments, consumables, software and services to the 
assisted reproductive technology (ART) and developmental biology research markets.  Our precision laser devices 
and advanced imaging systems improve results and enable breakthroughs in assisted reproduction procedures. 
Our newly acquired testing lab is a leading provider of quality control services and consumables to the In Vitro 
Fertilization (IVF) market. The Company's operations are conducted by its wholly owned subsidiaries, Hamilton 
Thorne, Inc., and Embryotech Laboratories Inc., each a Delaware corporation. 

The Company sells its products and services through its direct sales force and through distributors to over 1,000 
fertility clinics, hospitals, pharmaceutical companies, biotechnology companies, educational institutions and other 
commercial and academic research establishments in over 60 countries.  Its clinical products are cleared for sale in 
the US, Europe (and other territories accepting a CE Mark), China, Canada as well as a number of other markets.  

Hamilton Thorne's laser products attach to standard inverted microscopes and operate as micro-surgical devices, 
enabling a wide array of scientific applications and In Vitro Fertilization (“IVF”) procedures.  Currently the Company 
has five lasers that have been introduced. Each member of the laser family is built on similar architecture, but 
serves different markets and applications.  

Hamilton Thorne’s image analysis systems are designed to bring quality, efficiency and reliability to studies of 
reproductive cells in the human fertility, animal sciences and reproductive toxicology fields.  The Company’s 
Computer Assisted Sperm Analysis (CASA) systems assist researchers and clinicians in analyzing sperm motility and 
other characteristics in human fertility, toxicology and animal breeding applications. The Company’s Oosight® 
systems allow users to visualize and quantify structures within unfertilized eggs not visible with conventional 
microscopy. 

Our testing laboratory provides a range of toxicology testing services to manufacturers of medical devices, culture 
media and consumables used in IVF labs.  Our quality control consumables business focuses on assays that are 
used in IVF labs for testing environmental and materials toxicology. 

The Company’s quality control and production facilities are ISO 13485 certified and FDA registered GMP facilities. 
Our laboratory facilities are ISO 17025 certified.   

Hamilton Thorne is based in Beverly, Massachusetts.  Unless otherwise specified, all financial data is in US Dollars. 

Key Financial Data and Comparative Results  

Years Ended December 31 

Statements of Operations                 2016 2015 

Sales $10,514,803 $9,033,858 

Gross profit 6,862,592 5,760,410 

Operating expenses 5,885,122 4,484,192 

Net income 678,947 1,027,534 

EBITDA 1,261,088 1,392,764 

Basic earnings per share $0.01 $0.02 

Diluted earnings per share $0.01 $0.02 
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Statements of Financial Position as at: Dec. 31, 16 Dec. 31, 15 

Cash $1,837,655 $4,293,343 
Working capital 1,917,918 4,529,672 

Total assets 12,242,873 7,107,051 

Non-current liabilities 6,083,966 3,704,800 

Shareholders' equity (deficiency) 3,403,335 1,633,400 
 

Quarterly Data Dec. 31 16 Sep. 30 16 Jun. 30 16 Mar. 31 16 Dec. 31 15 Sep. 30 15 Jun. 30 15 Mar. 31 15

Sales $3,648,584 $2,448,152 $2,387,972 $2,029,825 $2,626,748 $2,074,514 $2,234,699 $2,097,897

Gross profit 2,477,931 1,578,327 1,513,325 1,293,010 1,667,025 1,324,440 1,453,087 1,315,858

Operating expenses 1,870,097 1,474,053 1,323,877 1,217,094 1,203,491 1,063,196 1,090,840 1,126,666

Net income 507,680 26,095 122,025 23,147 380,740 206,994 303,288 135,512

EBITDA 760,493 151,291 233,435 116,423 510,508 289,448 378,449 204,248

Basic earnings per share $0.006 $0.000 $0.002 $0.000 $0.006 $0.003 $0.005 $0.002

Diluted earnings per 
share $0.006 $0.000 $0.002 $0.000 $0.006 $0.003 $0.004 $0.002

 
The above financial information, with the exception of EBITDA data, has been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), and is stated in US dollars. (See “Non-IFRS Measures” and “New 
Accounting Pronouncements - International Financial Reporting Standards.”) 

Results of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2016      

Hamilton Thorne sales increased 16.4% to $10,514,803 for the year-ended December 31, 2016, an increase of 
$1,480,945 from $9,033,858 during the previous year.  These increases were attributable to strong increases in 
clinical laser and instrument services sales plus the addition of three and one-half months of revenues from our 
new subsidiary, Embryotech Laboratories Inc., offset by somewhat lower imaging systems sales and declines in 
research systems sales.   

Gross profit for the year increased 19.1% to $6,862,592 in the year-ended December 31, 2016, compared to 
$5,760,410 in the previous year.  Gross profit as a percentage of sales increased to 65.3% for 2016 versus 63.8% for 
the year-ended December 31, 2015 due to product mix and the impact of higher Embryotech margins.  

Operating expenses increased 31.3% or $1,400,930 to $5,885,122 for the year-ended December 31, 2016, up from 
$4,484,192 for the previous year, primarily due to the addition of Embryotech operating expenses post-closing, 
continued strategic investments in research and development and sales and marketing resources, the significant 
expenses incurred to complete this acquisition, all partially offset by reductions in other categories due to 
continued expense controls.   

Research and development expenses increased $18,167 (2.0%) from $970,771 to $988,938 for the year-ended 
December 31, 2016, due to increased staffing, compensation and new product amortization expenses, partially 
offset by approximately $525,000 of expenses relating to the development of its products that the Company 
capitalizes. 

Sales and marketing expenses increased $679,709 (33%) from $2,079,211 to $2,758,722 for the year-ended 
December 31, 2016 primarily due to the addition of Embryotech expenses post closing, amortization of intangibles 
related to the Embryotech acquisition, as well as increased staffing compensation, increased trade show presence, 
market development expenses, and other variable costs of selling.  
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General and administrative expenses increased $703,252 (49%) from $1,434,210 to $2,137,462 for the year-ended 
December 31, 2016 primarily due to the addition of Embryotech expenses post-closing, significant spending on the 
Company’s acquisition program, amortization of intangibles related to the Embryotech acquisition, offset by some 
expense reductions. 

Net interest expense increased $51,103 from $204,794, to $255,897, for the year-ended December 31, 2016 
versus the prior year primarily due to increased borrowing to complete the Embryotech acquisition and added 
expenses associated with the extension of letters of credit to support the Company’s previous bank line of credit. 

Foreign exchanges costs were $24,626 for the year -ended December 31, 2016, compared to $24,890 for prior year 
due to the Canadian dollar and the Company’s functional currency structure.           

Income tax expense was $18,000 in 2016, comparable to $19,000 in 2015, with taxes attributable to the 
Company’s US alternative minimum tax.  The Company’s remaining taxable income was offset by the utilization of 
a portion of the substantial federal and state net operating losses incurred in prior years. 

Net income decreased 33.9% to $678,947 for the year-ended December 31, 2016, versus net income of $1,027,534 
for the prior year, a decrease of $348,587, attributable to increased operating expenses due to the addition of 
Embryotech operating expenses post-closing, continued strategic investments in research and development and 
sales and marketing resources, the significant costs for the acquisition, together with  increased amortization of 
intangibles,  and increased interest expense, partially offset by one quarter of revenue and gross profit growth 
primarily attributable to the acquired assets of Embryotech. 

Other comprehensive income for the year-ended December 31, 2016 was $24,626 compared to $24,890 in 2015 
due to the foreign currency translation gains by the parent company from the foreign operations of its 
subsidiary. Total comprehensive income for the year-ended December 31, 2016 was $703,573, a 33.1% decrease 
versus comprehensive income of $1,052,424 for the year-ended December 31, 2015.  

EBITDA for the year-ended December 31, 2016 decreased 9.5% to $1,261,088 versus $1,392,764 in the prior year, 
due to the decline in net income, partially offset by increased amortization and interest expenses.     

Results of Operations for the Fourth Quarter ended December 31, 2016 

For the three months ended December 31, 2016, sales were up 38.9% from $2,626,748 to $3,648,854.  Gross profit 
was up 48.6% to $2,477,931 versus $1,667,025 for the prior year.  Operating expenses were up 55.5% to 
$1,870,097 versus $1,203,491 for the prior year primarily due to the addition of Embryotech operating expenses 
post-closing, continued strategic investments in research and development and sales and marketing resources, the 
significant expenses incurred to complete this acquisition and increased amortization on intangibles, all partially 
offset by reductions in other categories due to continued expense controls.   

In the fourth quarter of 2016, the Company net income increased 33.0% to $507,680 and EBITDA increased 49% to 
$760,493, versus net income of $380,740 and EBITDA of $510,508, for the prior year fourth quarter. These 
increases were due primarily to increased sales and gross profits resulting from the Embryotech acquisition, 
partially offset by increased acquisition and operating expense. 

Outlook 

The Company’s revenue growth is driven by the overall growth of the markets that it serves, the ability of the 
Company to capture increased market share, the introduction of new products and services, and the execution of 
its acquisition strategy.  The Company’s profit growth will be driven by its ability in increase revenues, maintain 
high gross profit margins, and continue strong expense controls.  
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The Company’s revenue growth was positively impacted in the third quarter and fourth quarters and will be 
substantially impacted in future quarters as the results from its recently completed acquisition of Embryotech 
begin to be realized.   

The Company expects growth in the sales of its clinical lasers will be continue to positively impacted by the 
increased adoption of procedures for the genetic diagnosis/screening of embryos and by strong growth in 
emerging markets.  The Company expects imaging system sales into the ART markets to grow, as it continues to 
introduce additional hardware enhancements and new software modules to its CASA product line, as well as 
generates incremental sales from its new Oosight product line.   

The Company expects to grow its toxicology testing service and consumables revenue through geographic 
expansion and the introduction of additional testing assays and services.  

In order to increase its recurring revenues, the Company continues to focus more of its efforts on the sale of 
accessories, consumables, software and services.  This area, particularly services, grew significantly over the past 
year and the Company expects to continue to see growth in these lines of business.   

For the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company saw a significant increase in business in the Americas, in part 
as a result of the Embryotech acquisition.    Sales in the Asia Pacific region continue to show strong growth while 
sales in the Europe/Middle East showed a decline, largely due to the strong US dollar.  The Company continues to 
face foreign exchange headwinds as most of its costs are in US dollars and more than 60% of its instrument sales 
are outside the US.  This impact will be somewhat ameliorated in the future as most of Embryotech service and 
consumables sales are in the US.   

Beginning in late 2015, the Company began to increase its investment in research and development in order to 
increase the pace of its innovation and new product development.  The Company also increased spending in sales 
and marketing to increase market penetration by adding more direct sales and support resources and investing in 
market development. The Company expects to see R&D and sales and marketing expense continue to grow 
moderately in future quarters. 

One element of the Company’s strategy is to broaden its offerings of products and services through strategic 
acquisitions of both operating companies and established product lines. In April 2015, the Company acquired the 
Oosight product line from a subsidiary of Perkin Elmer, Inc.  In September 2016, the Company acquired 
Embryotech, a leading provider of quality control services and assays to the ART market.  The Company is actively 
working on completing additional acquisitions with a goal of completing one or more meaningful acquisitions 
every twelve to eighteen months. 

The markets the Company serves are continually evolving and demand for the Company’s products has periodically 
been impacted as certain procedures and research paths increase and decline in laboratory usage.  In addition, as 
the field evolves, the Company’s spending priorities may change or be accelerated to address new opportunities in 
those markets.   

Liquidity  

The Company's cash balance at December 31, 2016 was $1,837,655 as compared to $4,293,343 at December 31, 
2015, a decrease of $2,455,688.  Working capital decreased to $1,917,918 at December 31, 2016, a decrease of 
$2,611,754 from $4,529,672 at December 31, 2015. The decrease in cash and in working capital was primarily 
attributable to the use of $2,750,000 of cash for the Embryotech acquisition and to reduce its outstanding line of 
credit, as well as the increase in inventory.    
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Cash generated by operations was $990,456 for the year-ended December 31, 2016, compared to $1,055,025 in 
the prior year, primarily due to the decrease in net income for the year as well as the increase in inventories, 
partially offset by a significant increase in amortization.  

Cash used in investing activities was $6,738,264 in 2016, compared to $364,942 in the prior year, primarily due to 
the Embryotech acquisition and increased investments in new product development costs.     

Cash generated by financing activities was $3,292,120 for the year-ended December 31, 2016, attributable to the 
Company’s new bank credit facilities, utilized for the acquisition and the reduction of the Company’s overall bank 
line of credit, versus $2,026,989 of cash generated by financing activities in the prior year, attributable to 
$1,170,760 of net proceeds from the private placement of shares and warrants in June 2015, as well as proceeds 
from exercised options and warrants, partially offset by planned financing of insurance premiums.   

In September 2016, the Company replaced its existing line of credit with a new credit facility consisting of a $5.5 
million five-year term loan and $2.5 million revolving line of credit maturing in September 2018 ($1.5 million of 
which was drawn at closing, and totals $1.575 outstanding at December 31, 2016), for net new borrowings of $3.5 
million, which was used to fund the Embryotech acquisition.  

The Company has generated cash from operations since 2013, and is expected to continue to generate cash from 
operations in 2017.   Assuming continued sales growth and the achievement of its current operating plan, the 
Company believes that its current cash position should be sufficient to support operations for the next twelve 
months.   

In November 2014 the Company closed an equity private placement to accelerate product development, support 
future growth, and increase liquidity by broadening the shareholder base.    The Company sold $660,000 
(Cdn$750,000) of units (each unit consisting of one common share and one warrant), and issued 7,500,000 
common shares, and 7,500,000 common share warrants, most of which were exercised in 2015 prior to expiring  in 
November 2015                                                                                                                                                                                                                  

In June 2015 the Company closed an equity private placement to accelerate its planned acquisition program, 
support future growth, and increase liquidity by broadening its shareholder base.    The Company sold $1,201,769  
(Cdn$1,512,050) of units (each unit consisting of one common share and one/half warrant), and issued 4,320,143 
common shares, and 2,160,071 common share warrants which expired fifteen months from the date of issue in 
September 2016.                                                                                                                                                                                                                

In November 2015 the Company issued 5,720,500 common shares and generated approximately $850,000 
(Cdn$1,144,100) from the exercises of warrants originally issued in the November 2014 private placement.  The 
Company will utilize the proceeds to fund its acquisition strategy and product development. 

In December 2014, the Company’s bank line of credit of $3.5 million was extended by one year to mature in 
January of 2016. In March 2015, the bank extended the agreement to October of 2016, and in September 2015 the 
bank extended the agreement an additional year to October of 2017.  

As noted above, in September 2016, the Company replaced its existing line of credit with a new credit facility.  

The Company is continually exploring additional sources of funding to support its growth initiatives and augment 
its cash position by raising additional equity, expanding its existing line of credit, and other financing alternatives.   
The Company also continues to explore other strategic options to maximize shareholder value, including the 
acquisition of additional product lines or companies. 
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Capital Resources  

As the Company's manufacturing operations consist primarily of final assembly and quality control, it does not 
have significant capital expenditures as part of its financial plans and outlook.  It is expected that capital 
expenditures in 2017, other than those related to acquisition activities, will be primarily for new computers, 
software, product development costs, and equipment used in research, development and demonstrations, and will 
total between $800,000 and $1,00,000 versus approximately $650,000 expended in 2016. These expenditures are 
expected to be made with current funds or financed through equipment leasing arrangements. 

The purpose of the November 2014 private placement was to accelerate product development and support future 
growth.  The purpose of the June 2015 private placement was to accelerate the Company’s planned acquisition 
program and support future growth.  The proceeds from the November 2015 exercises of warrants are intended to 
fund the Company’s acquisition strategy and product development. 

Share Capital  

As of December 31, 2016, there were 78,497,835 common shares issued and outstanding.    

As of December 31, 2016 there were no warrants to purchase common shares issued and outstanding.  

Stock options issued to employees and directors outstanding at December 31, 2016 totaled 10,395,403 at exercise 
prices ranging from Cdn $0.05 to Cdn $0.40.  Options for 7,814,554 shares are exercisable as of December 31, 
2016. Options expire at varying times from August 2017 through September 2026. 

In November 2014 the Company completed a private placement of units consisting of 7,500,000 common shares 
and 7,500,000 warrants to acquire one common share at an exercise price of Cdn $0.20 for a period of 12 months 
following the closing (subject to acceleration in certain circumstances at the Company's sole discretion), at a price 
of Cdn $0.10 per unit for proceeds of $660,041, less share issuance costs of $20,319.   

In June 2015 the Company completed a private placement of units consisting of 4,320,143 common shares and 
2,160,071 warrants to acquire one common share at an exercise price of Cdn $0.45 for a period of 15 months 
following the closing, at a combined price of Cdn $0.35 per unit for proceeds of $1,201,769, less share issuance 
costs of $21,767.  

In November 2015 the Company issued 5,720,500 common shares through the exercises of warrants at an exercise 
price of Cdn $0.20 for proceeds of $854,500.  

In September 2016 the Company issued 7,759,154 common shares as a portion of the purchase price of the 
acquisition of Embryotech.  The shares were issued at a deemed issuance price of Cdn$0.198 per share. The 
aggregate share component of US$1.175 million was calculated based on a twenty-day weighted- average stock 
price prior to the agreement date and the average US to Canada foreign exchange rate for the prior five days. The 
share consideration was placed in escrow pending final calculation of certain closing adjustments and to satisfy any 
possible indemnity claims.  For purchase price consideration, the fair value of the issuance was determined to be 
$784,898, or $0.101 per share, less issuance costs of $52,800 utilizing the Black-Scholes pricing model. 

Related Parties  

In October 2006, a shareholder advanced the Company $50,000 in return for a promissory note payable upon 
demand with interest at the prime with interest at the prime rate (3.25% at September 30, 2012), plus 1%.  In 
November 2006, $25,000 of principal was repaid leaving $25,000 outstanding at December 31, 2015. 

In August 2012, the Company closed the sale to insiders of $300,000 of subordinated debentures maturing in 
October 2013.  In September 2013, the holders of all of these outstanding debentures agreed to extend the 
maturity date to October 2016 and to reduce the interest rate pursuant to the debentures.  
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In November 2014 the Company sold to insiders and management $165,000 (Cdn$187,500) of equity units (each 
unit consisting of one common share and one warrant), and issued 1,875,000 common shares and 1,875,000 
common share warrants which expired one year from the date of issue (subject to acceleration in certain 
circumstances at the Company's sole discretion). 

In October 2015 the Company issued 113,255 common shares as compensation for extending a letter of credit as 
additional security for the Company’s committed line of credit for an additional year to November 2017.  The 
shares were issued to a director and major shareholder of the Company, at a deemed issuance price of Cdn$0.26 
per share with an aggregate value of US$22,500. In June 2016 the Company issued an additional 71,839 shares to 
this director and major shareholder at a deemed issuance price of Cdn$0.20 per share with an aggregate value of 
US$11,250.  In July 2016, the Company issued a final 81,158 shares to this director and major shareholder at a 
deemed issuance price of Cdn$0.20 per share with an aggregate value of US$11,250. The Company had also 
agreed to issue to this shareholder up to an additional US$22,500 worth of common shares in the next twelve 
months, provided the letters of credit remain outstanding. Effective in September 2016, these letters of credit 
were returned by the bank and the Company has no further obligations.  

In November 2015 the Company received from insiders and management $269,000 (Cdn$354,100) upon exercises 
of 100% of their warrants originally issued in November 2014. 

In September 2016 the Company issued 7,759,154 common shares to a corporation that is wholly owned by the 
President of the Company’s new Embryotech subsidiary as a portion (US$1.175 million) of the purchase price of 
the acquisition of Embryotech. In addition, at the time of the closing of the acquisition, Embryotech entered into a 
lease with a real estate entity also wholly owned by the President of the Company’s new Embryotech subsidiary.  
The five-year lease covers the premises occupied by Embryotech and calls for annual rental payments at market 
value, subject to cost of living escalators. 

New Accounting Pronouncements   

The Company prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards ("IFRS") approved by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).   

The Company has reviewed new and revised accounting pronouncements that have been issued by the IASB but 
are not yet effective and determined that the following are potentially relevant to the Corporation:  IFRS 9, 
Financial Instruments, mandatorily effective from January 1, 2018, with earlier application permitted; and IFRS 15, 
Revenue from Contracts and Customers, will replace IAS 18, Revenue, IAS 11, Construction Contracts, and related 
interpretations on revenue, and is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.  The 
Company is currently evaluating the impact of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 on its consolidated financial statements.  

Risk Factors  

An investment in the Company must be considered highly speculative. There are trends and factors that may be 
beyond the Company’s control which affect its operations and business.  Such trends and factors include adverse 
changes in the conditions in the specific markets for the Company’s products and services, the conditions in the 
broader market of laboratory instruments, consumables and accessories and conditions in the domestic or global 
economy generally.  It is not possible for management to predict economic fluctuations and the impact of such 
fluctuations on its performance. 

1. General Economic Conditions – The demand for capital asset purchases declines in the face of difficult economic 
conditions such as those experienced in the United States and much of the rest of the world during 2009 and 
continuing into 2016, particularly in Europe.  The Company’s customers include pharmaceutical, biotech and 
chemical companies, laboratories, universities, IVF labs, hospitals, government agencies and public and private 
research institutions. Many factors, including public policy spending priorities, available resources and product and 
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economic cycles, have a significant effect on the capital spending policies of these entities. These policies in turn 
can have a significant effect on the demand for its products.  

Furthermore, although the Company conducts most of its business and reports financial results in U.S. dollars, 
significant fluctuations in exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and foreign currencies may adversely affect the 
Company’s revenues and net income.  

2. History of Losses – While the Company has been profitable in since 2013, it has a history of losses and cannot 
predict if it will continue to achieve profitability for the foreseeable future.  Its ability to continue to generate 
profits in the future will depend on a number of factors, including: (i) its ability to grow sales based on the 
continued market demand for its existing products and expected demand for additional products; (ii) costs relating 
to the commercialization, sale and marketing of its products; (iii) general and administrative costs relating to its 
operations; (iv) research and development costs; (v) charges related to purchases of technology or other assets; 
and (vi) interest and other financing expenses.  

3. Inconsistent Sales Results – During the second and third quarter of 2012, Hamilton Thorne sales decreased 33% 
and 22% respectively versus the prior year, reversing a trend of nine consecutive quarters of year over year 
growth.  While the Company has a goal of continuing to achieve year over year growth, there can be no assurance 
that this will occur or that thereafter the Company will not experience another precipitous quarterly drop in sales 
revenues. 

4. Limited Operating History in Certain Markets - The Company is a small company focused on commercializing, 
marketing and selling products in the in ART and developmental biology research markets. Its operating history in 
some of these markets is limited. Certain products are only in the early stages of development. An investor should 
evaluate the likelihood of financial and operational success in light of the uncertainties and complexities present in 
an early-stage company, many of which are beyond the Company’s control, including: (i) the Company’s potential 
inability to distribute, sell and market its products; and (ii) the significant investment to achieve its 
commercialization, marketing and sales objectives.  Many of the Company’s target markets are relatively new and 
its long-term growth prospects are uncertain.  Should these markets fail to expand, it could have a materially 
adverse effect on the Company’s business and financial condition.   

5. Product Development - The development of additional products is subject to the risks of failure inherent in the 
development of new, state of the art products, laboratory devices and products based on new technologies. These 
risks include: (i) delays in product development or manufacturing; (ii) unplanned expenditures for product 
development or manufacturing; (iii) failure of new products to have the desired effect or an acceptable accuracy 
profile; (iv) emergence of superior or equivalent products; (v) failure by any potential collaborative partners to 
successfully develop products; and (vi) the dependence on third parties for the manufacture, development and 
sale of the Reporting Issuer’s products.  Because of these risks, the Company’s research and development efforts 
or those of potential collaborative partners may not result in any commercially viable products. If a significant 
portion of these development efforts is not successfully completed, or any products are not commercially 
successful, the Company is less likely to generate revenue growth or become profitable.  The failure to perform 
such activities could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition and results of 
its operations. 

6. Technological Advancement - The areas in which the Company is commercializing, distributing, and/or selling 
products involve rapidly developing technology. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to 
establish itself in such fields, or, if established, that it will be able to maintain its position. There can be no 
assurance that the development by others of new or improved products will not make the Company’s present and 
future products, if any, superfluous or obsolete. 
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7. Intellectual Property Rights - The Company has seven US patents issued, two of which inventions also have 
issued patents outside the US, with additional applications still pending in other foreign jurisdictions.  The 
Company’s success and ability to compete is dependent in part on these patents. Although management of 
Hamilton Thorne believes that the patents and associated trademarks and licenses are valid, there can be no 
assurance that they will not be challenged and subsequently invalidated and/or canceled. The invalidation or 
cancellation of any one or all of the patents or trademarks would significantly damage the Company’s commercial 
prospects. Further, the Company may find it necessary to legally challenge parties infringing its patents or 
trademarks or licensed trademarks to enforce its rights thereto.  There can be no assurance that any of the patents 
would ultimately be held valid or that efforts to defend any of the patents, trade secrets, know-how or other 
intellectual property rights would be successful.  

The Company’s future success will depend, in part, on its ability to obtain patents for newly developed products, 
maintain trade secrets protection, and operate without infringing on the proprietary rights of third parties or 
having third parties circumvent its rights.  The patent position of regenerative medicine and medical device firms is 
uncertain and involves complex legal and financial questions for which, in some cases, certain important legal 
principles remain unresolved. There can be no assurance that the patent applications made in respect of the 
owned products will result in the issuance of patents, that the term of a patent will be extendable after it expires 
in due course, that any patent issued to the Company will provide it with any competitive advantages, that the 
patents of others will not impede the Company’s ability to do business or that third parties will not be able to 
circumvent or successfully challenge the patents obtained in respect of the products.  The cost of obtaining and 
maintaining patents is high. Furthermore, there can be no assurance that others will not independently develop 
similar products that duplicate any of the products, or, if patents are issued, design around the patent for the 
product. There can be no assurance that the Company’s processes or products do not or will not infringe upon the 
patents of third parties, or that the scope of the Company’s patents will successfully prevent third parties from 
developing similar and competitive products.  

Much of the Company’s know-how and technology may not be patentable, though they may constitute trade 
secrets. There can be no assurance, however, that the Company will be able to meaningfully protect its trade 
secrets.  To help protect its intellectual property rights and proprietary technology, the Company requires 
employees, consultants, advisors and collaborators to enter into confidentiality agreements.  There can be no 
assurance that these agreements will provide meaningful protection for the Company’s trade secrets, know-how 
or other proprietary information in the event of any unauthorized use or disclosure.  

The Company’s commercial success will also depend, in part, on not infringing on the patents or proprietary rights 
of others. There can be no assurance that the technologies and products used or developed by the Company will 
not infringe such rights. If such infringement occurs and the Company is not able to obtain a license from the 
relevant third party, it will not be able to continue the development, manufacture, use, or sale of any such 
infringing technology or product. There can be no assurance that necessary licenses to third-party technology will 
be available at all or on commercially reasonable terms. In some cases, litigation or other proceedings may be 
necessary to defend against or assert claims of infringement or to determine the scope and validity of the 
proprietary rights of third parties. Any potential litigation could result in substantial costs to, and diversion of, its 
resources and could have a material and adverse impact on the Company. An adverse outcome in any such 
litigation or proceeding could subject the Company to significant liabilities, require it to cease using the subject 
technology or require it to license the subject technology from the third party, all of which could have a material 
adverse effect on the Company’s business. 

The Company’s future success and competitive position depends in part upon its ability to maintain its intellectual 
property portfolio.  There can be no assurance that any patents will be issued on any existing or future patent 
applications.  Even if such patents are issued, there can be no assurance that any patents issued or licensed to the 
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Company will not be challenged.  The Company’s ability to establish and maintain a competitive position may be 
achieved in part by prosecuting claims against others who it believes to be infringing its rights.  In addition, 
enforcement of the Company’s patents in foreign jurisdictions will depend on the legal procedures in those 
jurisdictions.  Even if such claims are found to be invalid, the Company’s involvement in intellectual property 
litigation could have a material adverse effect on its ability to distribute any products that are the subject of such 
litigation.  In addition, the Company’s involvement in intellectual property litigation could result in significant 
expense, which could materially adversely affect the use or distribution of related intellectual property and divert 
the efforts of the Company’s technical and management personnel from their principal responsibilities, whether or 
not such litigation is resolved in the Company’s favor. 

8. Competition - The Company is engaged in a rapidly evolving field. The Company faces competition for its laser 
and image analysis products from numerous companies.  Competition from other unknown entities and 
competition from research and academic institutions is also expected to increase. The market for solutions to the 
many fertility, developmental biology and regenerative medical research problems is growing rapidly and is likely 
to attract new entrants. Numerous companies have focused on developing new devices and most, if not all, of 
these companies have greater financial and other resources and development capabilities than the Company.  The 
Company’s future success depends in part on its ability to maintain a competitive position, including its ability to 
further progress and develop its products for sale and commercialization.  Other companies may succeed in 
commercializing products earlier than the Company or they may succeed in developing products that are more 
effective than the Company’s products. 

While the Company will seek to expand its technological capabilities in order to remain competitive, there can be 
no assurance that developments by others will not render its products non-competitive or that the Company will 
be able to keep pace with technological developments.  The success of the Company’s competitors and their 
products relative to the Company’s products could have a material adverse effect on the future operations of the 
Company. 

The markets in which the Company operates, including the ART market as a whole, has experienced industry 
consolidation in recent years through acquisitions, mergers, and decisions by industry players to partner.  
Consolidation across the industry, including by our competitors, many of which have greater financial and other 
resources than the Company, may enhance their capacity, abilities and resources and lower their cost structures, 
causing us to be at a competitive disadvantage. 

9.  Animal Facilities.  Many of the Company’s customers, as well as Embryotech, operate animal breeding facilities 
for food production and research. The biological samples, animal models and other materials used in these 
operations must be free of certain infectious agents such as certain viruses and bacteria because the presence of 
these contaminants could adversely impact human or animal health and can distort or compromise the quality of 
testing results. The presence of infectious agents in our animal facility could disrupt our operations, harm our 
reputation and result in decreased sales. If they occur, contaminations typically require cleaning up, renovating, 
disinfecting, retesting, and restarting production or services. Such cleanups result in inventory loss, cleanup and 
start-up costs, and reduced sales as a result of lost client orders and potentially credits for prior shipments. There 
also exists a risk that contaminations from our products or personnel working on site may affect our client's 
facilities, with similar impact to them for which we could be liable for damages. The testing services that we 
provide our clients are essential to IFV product development and manufacturing processes, and are typically 
mandated by law. Notwithstanding, certain special interest groups categorically object to the use of animals for 
valid research and testing purposes. Historically, our core testing models including, mice, hamsters and other 
rodents have not been the subject of significant animal rights media attention. Any negative attention, threats or 
acts of vandalism directed against either our animal facilities or our third party service providers the future could 
impair our ability to operate our business efficiently. 
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10.  Data or computer system breach.  As a routine element of our business, we collect, analyze, and retain 
substantial amounts of data pertaining to the testing services we conduct for our clients both in paper records and 
on our computer systems. Unauthorized third parties could attempt to gain entry to such paper records or 
computer systems for the purpose of stealing data or disrupting the systems. We believe that we have taken 
appropriate measures to protect them from intrusion, and we continue to improve and enhance our systems in 
this regard, but in the event that our efforts are unsuccessful, we could suffer significant harm. Our contracts with 
our clients typically contain provisions that require us to keep confidential the information generated from these 
testing services. In the event the confidentiality of such information was compromised, we could suffer significant 
harm to our reputation and could adversely impact our financial results. 

11. Product Liability - The sale of the Company’s products may expose it to potential liability resulting from the sale 
and use of such products. Liability might result from claims made directly by consumers or by laboratory 
companies. Hamilton Thorne currently maintains reasonable levels of product liability insurance. There can be no 
assurance that the Company will be able to renew its current insurance, renew it at a rate comparable to what it 
now pays, or that the coverage will be adequate to protect it against liability. If it were held liable for a claim or 
claims exceeding the limits of its current or future insurance coverage, or if coverage was discontinued for any 
reason, it could have a materially adverse effect on the Company’s business and financial condition. 

12. Government Regulation - The marketing of the Company’s products into clinical IVF labs is subject to regulatory 
clearance by the FDA, Health Canada, and other governmental entities.  The Company believes that its products 
are marketed in compliance with these regulations.  Future products sold into such markets will need to comply 
with these regulations as well. Any delay in, or failure to, receive or maintain clearance or approval for its existing 
products or new products under development could prevent it from generating revenue from these products or 
achieving profitability. Additionally, the FDA and other regulatory authorities have broad enforcement powers. 
Regulatory enforcement or inquiries, or other increased scrutiny on the Company, could dissuade some clinics 
from using its products and adversely affect its reputation and the perceived safety and efficacy of its products.   

The Company’s business may also be affected in varying degrees by changes to government regulation of 
intellectual property or export controls. Such changes are beyond the control of the Company and the effect of any 
such changes cannot be predicted. 

The Company conducts its business internationally and is subject to laws and regulations of several countries, 
which may affect its ability to access regulatory agencies and may affect the enforceability and value of its 
intellectual property rights.  There can be no assurance that any sovereign government, including Canada's or the 
United States’, will not establish laws or regulations that will be deleterious to the Company’s interests. There is no 
assurance that the Company, as a Canadian corporation, will continue to have access to the regulatory agencies in 
any jurisdiction where it might want to obtain final regulatory approval, and there can be no assurance that the 
Company will be able to enforce its intellectual property rights in foreign jurisdictions.  Governments have, from 
time to time, established foreign exchange controls which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s 
business and financial condition, since such controls may limit its ability to flow funds or products into a particular 
country to meet its obligations under distribution agreements and to flow funds, which the Company is entitled to, 
in the form of sales proceeds, out of a particular country. 

13. Dependence upon Management - The Company is substantially dependent upon the services of a few key 
personnel.  The loss of the services of any of these personnel could have a material adverse effect on the business 
of the Company.  The Company maintains key man insurance on certain management personnel.  The Company 
may not be able to attract and retain personnel on acceptable terms given the intense competition for such 
personnel among high technology enterprises, including biotechnology, and healthcare companies, universities 
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and non-profit research institutions. If it loses any of these persons, or is unable to attract and retain qualified 
personnel, its business, financial condition and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected. 

14. Dependence upon Key Suppliers - The Company’s production operations depend on obtaining deliveries of 
components, sub-assemblies, and other materials in a timely manner. In some cases, the Company purchases on a 
just-in-time basis. Some products are available only from a limited number of suppliers or a single supplier or have 
extremely long lead times. Manufacturing some of the components and subassemblies that the Company uses in 
its production processes is an extremely complex process and the Company has occasionally experienced 
shortages, delays in delivery or quality problems with its suppliers. A prolonged inability to obtain adequate 
deliveries of components, subassemblies or other materials, or any other circumstance that requires the Company 
to seek alternative sources of supply, could significantly hinder its ability to deliver its products in a timely manner, 
which could damage relationships with current and prospective customers and have a material adverse effect on 
the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 

15. Financing – In August 2012, the Company closed the sale of $300,000 of subordinated debentures, now 
maturing in October 2017. In November 2014 the Company closed an equity private placement to accelerate 
product development, support future growth, and increase liquidity by broadening the shareholder base.    The 
Company sold $660,000 (Cdn$750,000) of units (each unit consisting of one common share and one warrant), and 
issued 7,500,000 common shares, and 7,500,000 common share warrants expiring one year from the date of issue.   
In September 2015 the Company closed an equity private placement to accelerate its planned acquisition program, 
support future growth, and increase liquidity by broadening the shareholder base.    In September 2015, the 
Company sold $1,201,769 (Cdn$1,512,050) of units (each unit consisting of one common share and one/half 
warrant), and issued 4,320,143 common shares, and 2,160,071 common share warrants which expired in 
September 2016. In November 2015 the Company issued 5,720,500 common shares and generated approximately 
$850,000 (Cdn$1,144,100) from the exercises of warrants originally issued in the November 2014 private 
placement. In September 2016 the Company issued 7,759,154 common shares with a deemed value of US$1.175 
million as a portion of the purchase price of the acquisition of Embryotech. 

The Company generated cash from operations since 2013 and is expected to continue to generate cash in 2017, 
but may instead use cash if expected sales growth does not occur or if the Company decides to make additional 
investments to accelerate growth or utilizes a portion of its cash to fund acquisitions.   Assuming continued sales 
growth and the achievement of its current operating plan, the Company believes that its current cash position 
should be sufficient to support operations for the next twelve months.   

In the event that sales do not increase as anticipated, expense increase beyond current trends, or the Company 
undertakes a significant acquisition, the Company may need to raise additional capital through public or private 
equity or debt financings to fund operations and refinance its debt.   

In addition, the Company is continually exploring additional sources of funding to augment its cash position by 
raising additional equity, expanding the existing line of credit, and other financing alternatives.   The Company is 
also exploring other strategic options to maximize shareholder value, including the acquisition of additional 
product lines or companies.  There can be no assurance that funding will be available on terms acceptable to the 
Company, or at all.  To the extent that the Company issues additional common shares as part of any financing, or 
as full or partial consideration in connection with future acquisitions, existing shareholders will be diluted and the 
trading price of its shares may also decrease.  

16.  International Operations – Approximately 66% of the Hamilton Thorne’s total revenues in 2016 were derived 
outside the US.  While the recent Embryotech acquisition decreases this percentage, the Company expects that 
operations outside the US will continue to be significant to its revenues and net income. While the Company 
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currently does not have significant physical operations or employees outside the US, it may do so in the future 
either through internal expansion or as a result of an acquisition.  

International operations expose the Company to numerous risks, including: changes in local political, economic, 
social, and labor conditions; restrictions on foreign ownership and investments, and stringent foreign exchange 
controls that might prevent the Company from repatriating cash earned in countries outside the U.S.; import and 
export requirements that may prevent the Company from offering products or providing services to a particular 
market and may increase operating costs; currency fluctuations; payment issues, including, longer payment cycles 
in some countries, increased credit risk, and higher levels of payment fraud; uncertainty and complexity regarding 
liability for and compliance with regulations governing the Company’s products and services; liabilities arising from 
distributor relations and contracts outside the US; different employee/employer relationships, existence of 
workers’ councils and labor unions; and other challenges caused by distance, language, and cultural differences, 
making it harder to do business in certain jurisdictions. 

In addition, compliance with complex foreign and US laws and regulations that apply to international operations 
increase the Company’s cost of doing business. These numerous and sometimes conflicting laws and regulations 
include internal control and disclosure rules, data and patient privacy rules, medical products and diagnostics 
registration requirements, anti-corruption laws, such as the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, and other local laws 
prohibiting corrupt payments to governmental officials, and antitrust and competition regulations, among others.  

17.  Acquisitions related activities - As part of its business strategy, the Company is actively seeking to expand its 
product and service offerings through the acquisition of additional product lines, services and technologies or 
entire companies.  Acquisitions involve numerous risks, including: the potential failure to achieve the expected 
benefits of the combination; difficulties in and the cost of integrating operations, technologies, services and 
personnel; diversion of financial and managerial resources from existing operations; risk of offering products and 
services with which the Company has have little or no experience; potential write-offs of acquired assets or 
investments; potential loss of key employees; inability to generate sufficient revenue to offset acquisition or 
investment; the inability to maintain relationships with customers and partners of the acquired business; potential 
unknown liabilities associated with the acquired businesses; unanticipated expenses related to acquired 
technology and its integration into existing technology; negative impact to the Company’s results of operations 
because of the depreciation and amortization of amounts related to acquired intangible assets, fixed assets and 
deferred compensation, and the loss of acquired deferred revenue; delays in customer purchases due to 
uncertainty; the need to implement controls, procedures and policies appropriate for a public company at 
companies that prior to the acquisition lacked such controls, procedures and policies; possible litigation and 
associated costs; and challenges caused by distance, language and cultural differences. 

In addition, if the Company finances acquisitions by issuing convertible debt or equity securities, existing 
stockholders may be diluted which could affect the market price of the Company’s stock. Further, if the Company 
fails to properly evaluate and execute acquisitions the Company’s business and prospects may be seriously harmed 
and the value of shareholder’s investment may decline.  

18.  Bank Financing - The Company currently maintains a $5,500,000 five-year term loan maturing in September 
2021, and a $2,500,000 formula-based, secured line of credit with a US bank which is scheduled to mature in 
September 2018, and is subject to renewal. These credit facilities are collateralized by all of the operating assets of 
the Company. If the Company is unable to pay its principal or interest obligations when due or refinance or pay off 
the debt to the Bank when it matures, or if there were otherwise an event of default, the Company’s business, 
financial condition and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected.   
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19. Dividends - The Company intends to retain any future earnings to finance the growth and development of its 
business and does not plan to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future, if ever. 

20. Principal Shareholder Influence - The Company’s three principal shareholders own or control approximately 
54% of the shares outstanding and therefore have significant ability to control the outcome of shareholder votes, 
including votes concerning the election of directors, the adoption or amendment to provisions in the Company’s 
articles or by-laws, the approval of mergers and/or acquisitions, decisions affecting capital structure and other 
significant corporate transactions. 

 

 





Hamilton Thorne Ltd.
Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2016 and 2015  





To the Shareholders of Hamilton Thorne Ltd.:  

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Hamilton Thorne Ltd. ("the 
Company"), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2016 and 
December 31, 2015, and the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, changes 
in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control 
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements, based on our audits. 
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
Company’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements, in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, and its financial performance
and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Toronto, Ontario Chartered Professional Accountants
April 27, 2017 Licensed Public Accountants





December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

Assets   
Current 

Cash and cash equivalents 1,837,655$                4,293,343$               
Accounts receivable 1,638,651                  1,209,429                 
Inventories (note 4) 1,127,407                  655,741                    
Prepaid expenses 116,777                     140,010                    

Total current assets 4,720,490                  6,298,523                 
Property and equipment (note 5) 287,472                     50,566                      
Long-term deposits 116,116                     73,783                      
Intangible assets   (notes 3 and 6) 5,028,795                  684,179                    
Goodwill    (note 3) 2,090,000                  -                            

Total assets 12,242,873$              7,107,051$               

Liabilities
Current

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,420,058$                1,361,564$               
Current portion of bank term note  (note 7) 915,000                     -                            
Notes payable (note 7) 381,466                     359,341                    
Deferred revenue 86,048                       47,946                      

Total current liabilities 2,802,572                  1,768,851                 

Deferred revenue, long-term 13,800                       8,900                        
Long-term debt (note 7) 5,879,000                  3,500,000                 
Other liabilities (note 3) 144,166                     195,900                    

Total liabilities 8,839,538                  5,473,651                 

Shareholders' Equity 
Common shares (notes 8 and 9) 32,136,762                31,343,910               
Warrants (notes 9 and 10) -                             450,973                    
Contributed surplus 2,690,575                  1,966,092                 
Accumulated other comprehensive income 51,794                       27,168                      
Accumulated deficit (31,475,796)               (32,154,743)              

Total shareholders' equity 3,403,335                  1,633,400                 

 Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 12,242,873$              7,107,051$               

Commitments     (note 13)
Subsequent event     (note 19)                             

Approved by the Board of Directors:

   /s/  "Bruno Maruzzo"   /s/  "Dean Gendron"

Bruno Maruzzo Dean Gendron
Chairman of the Audit Committee Director, Member of the Audit Committee

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Hamilton Thorne Ltd.

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015
(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 

1



2016  2015  

Sales 10,514,803$              9,033,858$               

Cost of sales  (note 14) 3,652,211                  3,273,448                 

Gross profit 6,862,592                  5,760,410                 

Expenses   (note 14)
Research and development 988,938                     970,771                    
Sales and marketing 2,758,722                  2,079,211                 
General and administrative 2,137,462                  1,434,210                 

Total expenses 5,885,122                  4,484,192                 

Income from operations 977,470                     1,276,218                 

Other income (expense)
Interest expense including accretion (note 7) (255,897)                    (204,794)                   
Foreign exchange loss (24,626)                      (24,890)                     

Income before taxes 696,947                     1,046,534                 

Provision for taxes  (note 13) (18,000)                      (19,000)                     
Net income 678,947                     1,027,534                 

Foreign currency translation gain 24,626                       24,890                      

Comprehensive income for the year 703,573$                   1,052,424$               

Earnings per share:
Basic 0.01$                         0.02$                        
Diluted 0.01$                         0.02$                        

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding  (note 2): 

Basic 72,577,577                63,139,563               
Diluted 74,694,290                68,522,499               

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

2

For the years ended December 31,2016 and 2015
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income 

Hamilton Thorne Ltd.



Accumulated Other
        Common Shares Contributed Comprehensive  Accumulated

Shares Dollars Warrants Surplus      Income Deficit Total
December 31, 2014 59,596,126      29,733,773$    259,081$    1,401,969$   2,278$               (33,182,277)$     (1,785,176)$       

Share-based payments expense  (note 10) -                       -                      -                  305,042        -                         -                         305,042              

Issuance of common shares, net of expenses -
      private placement (note 9) 4,320,143        1,170,760        -                  -                    -                         -                         1,170,760           

Issuance of warrants, net of expenses - 
      private placement (note 8 and 9) -                       (450,973)         450,973      -                    -                         -                         -                         

Issuance of common shares - compensation 
      (note 7 and 8) 113,255           22,500             -                    -                         -                         22,500                

Issuance of common shares - exercise of 
      warrants (notes 8 and 9) 5,820,000        860,850           (201,047)     201,047        -                         -                         860,850              

Expiration of warrants (notes 8 and 9) -                       -                      (58,034)       58,034          -                         -                         -                         

Issuance of common shares - exercise of 
      options  (note 10) 115,515           7,000               -                  -                    -                         -                         7,000                  

Accumulated other comprehensive income -                       -                      -                  -                    24,890               1,027,534          1,052,424           

December 31, 2015 69,965,039      31,343,910$    450,973$    1,966,092$   27,168$             (32,154,743)$     1,633,400$         
-                         

Share-based payments expense  (note  10) -                       -                      -                  273,510        -                         -                         273,510              

Issuance of common shares - exercise of 
      options  (note 10) 572,220           38,154             -                  -                    -                         -                         38,154                

Issuance of common shares - compensation 
      (note 7 and 8) 152,997           22,500             -                    -                         -                         22,500                

Expiration of warrants (notes 8 and 9) -                       -                      (450,973)     450,973        -                         -                         -                         

Issuance of common shares, net of expenses -
      acquisition (notes 3 and  8) 7,759,154        732,198           -                  -                    -                         -                         732,198              

Accumulated other comprehensive income 24,626               678,947             703,573              

December 31, 2016 78,449,410      32,136,762$    -$                2,690,575$   51,794$             (31,475,796)$     3,403,335$         

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Hamilton Thorne Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity

For the years Ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 
(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)



2016  2015  
  

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income for the year 678,947$                   1,027,534$               
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
  operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 284,519                     79,137                      
Non-cash interest expense/accretion 26,206                       37,992                      
Share-based compensation expense 296,010                     305,042                    
Changes in non-cash operating assets and liabilities:
    Accounts receivable 30,778                       (243,618)                   
    Inventories (292,166)                    (14,993)                     
    Prepaid expenses 30,083                       (23,759)                     
    Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (12,856)                      (124,795)                   
    Deferred revenue 43,002                       12,485                      
    Long-term deposits (42,333)                      -                            
    Other liabilities (51,734)                      -                            

Net cash flows provided by operating activities 990,456                     1,055,025                 

Cash flows used in investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment (99,553)                      (25,368)                     
Cash paid for acquisition (6,075,000)                 -                            
Additions to intangible assets (563,711)                    (339,574)                   

Net cash flows (used in) investing activities (6,738,264)                 (364,942)                   

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from notes payable 97,403                       81,249                      
Payments on notes and capital lease obligations (80,927)                      (92,870)                     
Proceeds from line of credit debt 1,575,000                  -                            
Payments on debt (3,500,000)                 -                            
Proceeds from term note debt 5,440,000                  -                            
Payments on term note debt (225,000)                    -                            
Issuance of common share units - net of expenses -                             1,170,760                 
Share issuance costs (52,508)                      
Issuance of common shares - exercises of warrants, net of expenses -                             860,850                    
Issuance of common shares - option exercises 38,152                       7,000                        

Net cash flows provided by financing activities 3,292,120                  2,026,989                 

Net  increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (2,455,688)                 2,717,072                 
Cash and equivalents, beginning of year 4,293,343                  1,576,271                 

Cash and equivalents, end of year 1,837,655$                4,293,343$               

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the year for interest 229,691$                   191,692$                  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Hamilton Thorne Ltd.

For the years ended December 31,2016 and 2015



  1. Nature of Operations

Hamilton Thorne Ltd. (or “HTL”) was created on October 28, 2009 by the reverse asset acquisition by Hamilton Thorne, Inc. (“HTI”) 
of Calotto Capital Inc. (“Calotto”). Calotto was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) on February 19,
 2007 and was classified as a Capital Pool Company as defined in Policy 2.4 of the TSX Venture Exchange (the “Exchange”). HTL's shares
are traded as a Tier 2 Corporation, under the stock symbol "HTL."

The Company operates from its two primary offices in Beverly and Haverhill, Massachusetts, USA.  Its registered office is located at Brookfield 
Place, Suite 2100, 181 Bay Street, Toronto,  Ontario, Canada.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 were authorized for issuance
by the Board of Directors on April 27, 2017. 

  2. Basis of Preparation

   a) Statement of Compliance

   b) Basis of Measurement

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, with the exception of cash and cash
equivalents and financial instruments measured at fair value.  

   c) Functional and Presentation Currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in US dollars.  HTL’s functional currency is Canadian dollars, which is then
translated to US dollars for presentation purposes.   HTL's wholly owned subsidiaries' functional currency is US dollars.  Once the                                        
 functional currency of an entity is determined, it should be used consistently, unless significant changes in economic facts, events 
and conditions indicate that the functional currency was changed.

   d) Significant Accounting Policies

The accounting policies outlined below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements.

Principles of Consolidation

Use of Estimates and Critical Judgments

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make critical judgments, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of
the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Significant 
items subject to estimates and assumptions are specified below, and additional items subject to estimate include the estimated useful
life of assets, warrants, and legal liabilities. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

a)  Sales allowances
Sales allowances for customer promotions and discounts are recorded as a reduction of revenue when the related revenue is
recognized. For returns, the Company estimates these amounts using a combination of historical experience and current market
conditions. These estimates are reviewed periodically against actual results and any adjustments are recorded at that time as an
increase or decrease to net sales. The reserve is $15,000 as at December 31, 2016 and $22,500 as at December 31, 2015.

b)  Allowance for doubtful accounts
The Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management’s assessment of the business environment,
historical collection experience, accounts receivable aging, and the collectability of specific customer accounts.  Major customers'
accounts are monitored on an ongoing basis and the  allowance is reviewed for adequacy and the balance or accrual rate is 
adjusted to reflect current risk prospects.  No material adjustments were made to the Company's estimates made in prior years.

The Company prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).

 

Hamilton Thorne Ltd.

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015

The Company's principal business is the development, manufacture and sale of precision laser devices, advanced image analysis systems, 
consumables, software and quality control testing services for living cell applications in the assisted reproductive technologies (“ART”) and 
developmental biology research markets.

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of HTL and its wholly owned subsidiaries Hamilton Thorne, Inc. and Embryotech 
Laboratories Inc. (ELI).  The ELI results are incorporated from September 15 to December 31, 2016.  All inter-company balances and transactions 
have been eliminated on consolidation.



  2. Basis of Preparation   (Continuing from previous page)

c)  Reserve for inventory obsolescence
The Company values inventory at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Based upon a consideration of quantities on hand,
actual and projected sales volume, anticipated product selling prices and product lines planned to be discontinued, slow-moving 
and obsolete inventory is written down to its net realizable value. Furthermore, significant changes in demand for the Company's products
would impact management’s estimates in establishing its inventory provision. Management estimates are estimated on a quarterly basis
and a further adjustment to reduce inventory to its net realizable value is recorded, as an increase to cost of sales, when deemed necessary.   

e) Impairment of non-financial assets
Non-financial assets with finite lives are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. In addition, non-financial assets that are not amortized are subject to an annual impairment
assessment. Any impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount in
earnings of continuing or discontinued operations, as appropriate.

f)  Share-based payments expense
The Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees and directors by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments
at the date at which they are granted.  This estimate requires determining and making assumptions about the most appropriate inputs to the valuation
model including the expected life, volatility, forfeiture rate and dividend yield of the share option.

g)  Income taxes

Business Combinations 

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognized at their fair value, except that: 

6

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)
For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015

Hamilton Thorne Ltd.

d) Impairment of goodwill
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if there is an indication of impairment. The carrying value of intangible assets with 
definite lives (deferred development costs, customer lists, trade names, and quality management systems)  and equipment is reviewed each reporting 
period to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is 
impaired and an impairment loss is recognized in the consolidated statement of operations. The assessment of fair values requires the use of 
estimates and assumptions related to future operating performance and discount rates; differences in these estimates and assumptions could have a 
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements. During the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company has not recognized a 
write-down of goodwill or intangibles.

The Company is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required  in determining the worldwide provision for income 
taxes, including the probability of recovery of deferred tax assets. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax 
determination is uncertain. The Company recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be 
due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the current 
and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the year in which such determination is made. The Company has not recognized deferred tax assets 
as it is not yet probable that the Company will have substantial taxable income against which the deferred tax assets can be utilized in the near future.   

Acquisitions during the years ended December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 have been accounted for as business combinations using the 
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. Acquisition-related 
transaction costs are recognized in income and comprehensive income as incurred. 

• deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are recognized and measured in accordance with 
IAS 12 and IAS 19 respectively; and 

• liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment arrangements of the acquirer 
entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payments at the 
acquisition date. 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

When the consideration transferred by the entity in a business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent consideration 
arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a 
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted 
retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional 
information obtained during the ‘measurement period’ (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that 
existed at the acquisition date. The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as 
measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not 
re-measured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as 
an asset or a liability is re-measured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with IAS 39, or IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets , as appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognized in profit or loss.



  2. Basis of Preparation   (Continuing from previous page)

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits held with banks with original maturities of less than 90 days. Cash 
equivalents, if any, are carried at fair value and accounts are not subject to any withdrawal restrictions or penalties.

Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Costs of inventory are calculated on an 
average cost basis.  In determining net realizable value, the Company considers factors such as current selling 
price, product lifecycle including cost to sell, and future sales volumes.  Allowances for slow-moving or obsolete 
inventory are recorded when considered appropriate.

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are recorded at cost and are amortized over their estimated useful lives using the following methods and rates:
Machinery and equipment 2-5 years straight line
Leasehold improvements Term of the lease, straight line
Furniture and fixtures 5-10 years straight line

Capital Leases
The Company's policy is to record leases, which transfer substantially all benefits and risks incidental to ownership of
property, as acquisition of property and equipment and to record the corresponding obligations as liabilities.  Obligations
under capital leases are reduced by rental payments, net of imputed interest.

Impairment of Non-financial Assets
Non-financial assets with finite lives are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. Management reviews the carrying value of the assets and 
considers whether an impairment charge should be recorded. The review is based on the assessment of technology changes, 
the Company’s intended use, and on the projected estimated discounted cash flows expected to be generated from the underlying assets. 

Revenue Recognition

The Company also sells service contracts for service and maintenance of the underlying product beyond the 
warranty period. The Company defers revenue upon entering into the agreement and recognizes revenue ratably 
over the contract period. Unrecognized revenue at year end is shown on the statement of financial position as deferred revenue.

Intangible Assets
Internally generated intangible assets, such as deferred development costs, are capitalized when the product or process is technically and
commercially feasible and the Company has sufficient resources to complete development. The cost of an internally generated intangible 
asset comprises all directly attributable costs necessary to create, produce and prepare the asset to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management. Amortization of the internally generated intangible assets begins when the development is complete and  the
asset is available for use. It is amortized over the period of expected future benefit. Amortization is recorded in research and development
expense, on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of five years. 

Income Taxes
The Company follows the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred
income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the differences between the basis for assets and 
liabilities on the consolidated statements of financial position and their corresponding tax values as well as loss carry-forwards, using 
the substantively enacted tax rates and laws that are expected to be in effect when the differences are expected to be reversed.  Tax 
benefits are recognized only to the extent that, based on available evidence, it is probable that they will be realized.

Financial Instruments - Recognition and Measurement
The Company classifies financial assets and liabilities as fair value through profit and loss ("FVTPL"), available-for-sale, held-to-maturity, 
loans and receivables or other financial liabilities at amortized cost depending on their nature. Financial assets and financial liabilities 
are all recognized at fair value on their initial recognition, except for those arising from certain related party 
transactions which are accounted for at the transferor’s carrying amount or fair value in accordance with IFRS.

Hamilton Thorne Ltd.

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

The Company recognizes revenue from product sales upon shipment, when risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred, the buyer has 
control of the goods, revenues can be measured reliably, and it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to the present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the fair value of money and the uses specific 
to the asset for which the estimate of future cash flows has been adjusted.

For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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  2. Basis of Preparation   (Continuing from previous page)

Financial Instruments - Recognition and Measurement (continued)

Impairment of Financial Assets
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired. If such
evidence exists, the Company recognizes an impairment loss for financial assets carried at amortized cost as follows: the loss 
is the difference between the amortized cost of the loan or receivable and the present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted
at the instrument’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced by this amount either directly or indirectly
 through the use of an allowance account.

Impairment losses on financial assets carried at amortized cost are reversed in subsequent periods if the amount of the loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment is recognized.

Comprehensive Income 

Share-based Payments
The Company has a share-based payments plan, which is described in Note 10. The Company uses the fair value method estimated at
grant date to account for stock options granted to employees, directors and consultants, determined utilizing the Black-Scholes option 
pricing model for employee grants as well as for non-employees if the fair value of the services are not determinable.  Options issued to
employees, directors and consultants are recognized as an expense over the vesting period (graded vesting), and the offset is credited to  
contributed surplus.  The historical forfeiture rate is also factored in to the calculations.  Any consideration paid upon exercise of stock options 
would be credited to share capital and the related contributed surplus transferred to share capital.

Earnings Per Share

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

The Company presents basic and diluted earnings per share data. Basic earnings per share data is calculated by dividing the net income attributable 
to common shareholders of the Company by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the year. The diluted earnings per 
share is determined by adjusting the net income attributable to common shareholders and the weighted-average number of common shares 
outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential common shares. The diluted earnings per share calculation considers the impact of employee stock 
options and other potentially dilutive instruments.  Such instruments are anti-dilutive when the Company is in a loss position.
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Hamilton Thorne Ltd.

For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015

Certain new standards, interpretations, amendments and improvements to existing standards were issued by the IASB or International Financial 
Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) that were not effective as of December 31, 2016. The standards impacted that may be applicable to the 
Company are as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial assets and liabilities classified as FVTPL are measured at fair value, with gains and losses recognized in net income. Cash and cash 
equivalents are classified as FVTPL.  Financial assets classified as available-for-sale are measured at fair value, using quoted market prices when 
available, with unrealized gains and losses being recognized as other comprehensive income (loss) until realized. Financial assets classified as loans 
and receivables are measured at amortized cost, using the effective interest rate method of amortization. The carrying amount of accounts 
receivables, officer notes, and other receivables is a reasonable approximation of fair value due to the short-term nature of these financial instruments. 
Financial liabilities at amortized costs are measured at amortized cost, using effective interest rate method of amortization. The carrying amount of the 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities is a reasonable approximation of fair value due to the short-term nature of these financial instruments. The 
carrying value of the long-term debt and notes payable approximates their fair value. The Company has elected to account for transaction costs 
related to  the issuance of financial instruments as a reduction of the carrying value of the related financial instruments.  The fair value is described in 
note 16.

Comprehensive income  measures net income for the year plus other comprehensive income. Other comprehensive income consists of changes to 
unrealized gains and losses, and on available-for-sale financial assets, changes to unrealized gains and losses on the effective portion of cash flow 
hedges during the year. Amounts reported as other comprehensive income are accumulated in a separate component of shareholders’ equity as 
Accumulated other  comprehensive income. 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” (“IFRS 9”)  IFRS 9 was issued by the IASB on November 12, 2009 and will replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement (“IAS 39”). IFRS 9 replaces the multiple rules in IAS 39 with a single approach to determine whether a financial asset is 
measured at amortized cost or fair value and a new mixed measurement model for debt instruments having only two categories: amortized cost and 
fair value. The approach in IFRS 9 is based on how an entity manages its financial instruments in the context of its business model and the contractual 
cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. The new standard also requires a single impairment method to be used, replacing the multiple 
impairment methods in IAS 39. This standard is mandatorily effective from January 1, 2018, with earlier application permitted.  The Company is 
currently evaluating the impact of IFRS 9 on its consolidated financial statements.



  2. Basis of Preparation   (Continuing from previous page)

3. Acquisitions

a)  Embryotech Laboratories

The fair value of the consideration paid was approximately:
Cash 6,075,000$               
Equity - common shares issued, at fair value 785,000                    
Total fair value of consideration paid 6,860,000$               

The now final allocation of the fair value consideration paid is as follows:
Net tangible assets 750,000$                  
Intangible asset- Customer list 2,760,000
Intangible asset- Tradename 490,000
Intangible asset- Quality Management System (QMS) 770,000
Goodwill 2,090,000                 
Total 6,860,000$               

Goodwill is primarily related to future earnings, cash flow and the assembled workforce.

The fair value of the consideration allocated to net tangible and intangible assets, and the corresponding effect on goodwill is preliminary.  The 
Company is in the process of finalizing information related to assets, liabilities, income taxes, and the corresponding effect on goodwill.  Transaction 
costs incurred to date for this acquisition were $271,000 for the year, and were included in general and administrative expenses. 
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The agreed upon consideration paid to Embryotech was $7.25 million, comprised of $6.075 million in cash consideration and 7,759,154 common 
shares of Hamilton Thorne at a deemed issuance price of Cdn$0.198 per share. The resulting aggregate share component of $1.175 million was 
placed in escrow pending final calculation of certain closing adjustments and to satisfy any possible indemnity claims.   The resulting fair value of the 
consideration transferred for the acquisition was approximately $6.86 million. 

For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015

Hamilton Thorne Ltd.

As at December 31, 2016, the company tested its acquired ELI assets for impairment.  The Company compared the value in to its carrying value and 
concluded that there was no impairment.  Key assumptions to the value in use model were:  growth rate of 2.0-2.3% and discount rate of 16.9%.

On September 15, 2016 the Company's wholly-owned subsidiary Embryotech Laboratories Inc. acquired the operating assets of US-based 
Embryotech Laboratories for an agreed upon consideration of approximately $7.25 million. The transaction is accounted for as a business 
combination.  The acquired  assets are comprised of the brand, customer list, Quality Management Systems (QMS) and other product rights, and all 
tangible operating assets.  Embryotech is a leading provider of quality control testing services and materials to the ART market. It provides a suite of 
quality control testing services for detecting toxicity as well as quality control assays and other products for training and research to ART laboratories. 
The purpose of this acquisition was to diversify and increase our revenue base toward recurring services, significantly increase our scale, acquire a 
leading services brand, and strengthen our financial performance.      

IFRS 15, "Revenue from Contracts and Customers"  (“IFRS 15”) was issued by the IASB on May 28, 2014, and will replace IAS 18, revenue, IAS 11, 
construction contracts, and related interpretations on revenue. IFRS 15 sets out the requirements for recognizing revenue that apply to all contracts 
with customers, except for contracts that are within the scope of the standards on leases, insurance contracts and financial instruments. IFRS 15 uses 
a control based approach to recognize revenue which is a change from the risk and reward approach under the current standard. Companies can 
elect to use either a full or modified retrospective approach when adopting this standard and it is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2018.

IFRS 16, "Leases"  ("IFRS 16") was issued by the IASB in January 2016, which requires lessees to recognize assets and liabilities for most leases.  
Application of the standard is mandatory for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with earlier adoption permitted, provided 
the new revenue standard, IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, has been applied or is applied at the same date as IFRS 16.  The 
Company is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 16 on the Company’s consolidated financial statements along with the planned timing of our 
adoption of IFRS 16.

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements



  3. Acquisitions    (Continuing from previous page)

The final allocation of the value of the tangible assets and liabilities acquired is as follows:
Accounts receivable, trade 460,000$                  
Inventories 179,500
Prepaid expenses 6,850
Property and equipment (note 5) 175,000                    
         Total tangible assets 821,350$                  

Accounts payable (35,358)
Accrued liabilities (35,992)
Total - net tangible assets 750,000$                  

b)  Oosight product line

The final allocation of the purchase price is as follows: Total  

Inventory 48,900$                    
Intangible assets - acquired product rights 249,400                    
Total 298,300$                  

Cash and remaining consideration was comprised of:
Cash 48,900$                    
Accrued liabilities - purchase consideration payable (short-term) 53,500                      
Other liabilities - purchase consideration payable (long-term) 195,900                    
Total 298,300$                  

  4. Inventories

Inventories consist of the following:
December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

Raw materials and purchased parts 1,223,931$                734,265$                  
Allowance for obsolete or slow-moving items (96,524)                      (78,524)                     
Total 1,127,407$                655,741$                  

Allowances are established for inventory that is determined to be excess or obsolete. During the year, the Company increased its allowance
by $24,000 before write-offs ($24,000 in 2015).  The Company also identified and wrote down excess and obsolete inventory of $21,299
in 2016 and $45,709 in 2015.  Included in cost of sales are inventory costs of $2,475,000 in 2016 and $2,383,000 in 2015. 

Hamilton Thorne Ltd.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015
(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

Revenue and net profit before income taxes relating to Embryotech for the period from September 15, 2016 to December 31, 2016 was $1,375,000 
and $475,000 respectively, not including acquisition costs expensed to HTL as incurred. 

For the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company finalized the purchase price of the Oosight product line by adjusting the value of the acquired 
product rights. The originally reported estimated value of $202,200 in the second quarter of 2015 was retrospectively revised upward to $249,400.

In April 2015 the Company acquired the Oosight® product line from Cambridge Research & Instrumentation, Inc. (CRi), a subsidiary of Perkin Elmer, 
Inc. on April 6, 2015.  The acquired  assets are comprised of inventory and other product rights. The Oosight system provides high-contrast live 
images of unfertilized eggs (oocytes), capturing quantitative data of important structures using a patented non-invasive, polarized-light technique.    

The purchase price paid to CRi was $298,300 comprised of $48,900 in cash consideration and $249,400 of contingent consideration consisting of a 
royalty payment of twenty percent (20%) of worldwide net sales during each calendar quarter commencing with the calendar quarter beginning April 1, 
2015 until the royalty payments equal $500,000 in aggregate. Thereafter, the royalty payment is reduced to 4% of net sales. These estimated royalty 
payments have been discounted to fair value using a rate of return of twenty percent (20%). The Company expensed $7,789 of transaction costs in 
relation to the acquisition. 
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  5. Property and Equipment
Accumulated Net Book

Property and equipment consist of the following at December 31, 2016: Cost Depreciation Value
Machinery and equipment 1,475,204$                       1,339,885$                135,319$                  
Furniture and fixtures 140,945                            112,257                     28,688                      
Leasehold improvements 162,959                            39,494                       123,465                    
Total 1,779,108$                       1,491,636$                287,472$                  

Property and equipment consist of the following at December 31, 2015:
Machinery and equipment 1,336,725$                       1,303,453$                33,272$                    
Furniture and fixtures 125,151                            107,857                     17,294                      
Leasehold improvements 41,204                              41,204                       -                            
Total 1,503,080$                       1,452,514$                50,566$                    

Activity consisted of the following for the year ended December 31, 2016:
Additions Disposals Depreciation 

Machinery and equipment 89,409$                            -$                           29,673$                    
Furniture and fixtures 1,646                                -                             4,399                        
Leasehold improvements 8,498                                1,150                        
Acquired by acquisition 176,475                            -                             10,202                      
Total 276,028$                          -$                           45,424$                    

Activity consisted of the following for the year ended December 31, 2015:

Machinery and equipment 21,339$                            -$                           23,736$                    
Furniture and fixtures 4,029                                -                             4,724                        
Leasehold improvements -                                   -                             393                           
Total 25,368$                            -$                           28,853$                    

Included are assets under capital lease in the amount of $132,294 in 2016 and 2015 for cost, and $132,294 in 2016 and 2015 for
accumulated depreciation.

6. Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of development costs and acquired product rights as follows as at  December 31, 2016:

Amortization Net Book
Cost of costs (by year) Value (Year) 

Capitalized development costs - 2016 1,112,670$                       175,861$                   936,809$                  
Acquired in business combination - 2016 Customer list 2,760,000                         53,650                       2,706,350                 
Acquired in business combination - 2016 Trade secrets 770,000                            22,460                       747,540                    
Acquired in business combination - 2016 Trade name 490,000                            14,015                       475,985                    
Acquired product rights - 2015 Oosight acquisition (note 3) 249,400                            87,289                       162,111                    
Total 5,382,070$                       353,275$                   5,028,795$               

Intangible assets consist of development costs as follows as at December 31, 2015: Amortization Net Book

Capitalized development costs 339,574$                          50,284$                     289,290$                  
Acquired product rights - 2015 Oosight acquisition (note 3) 249,400                            37,410                       211,990                    
Capitalized development costs - prior years 209,385                            26,486                       182,899                    
Total 798,359$                          114,180$                   684,179$                  

Development costs and acquired product rights are amortized over the estimated useful life of the asset, established as five years.  The
customer list, trade secrets and trade names estimated useful lives are established at 15, 10 and 10 years respectively.

For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015

Hamilton Thorne Ltd.
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  7. Notes Payable and Long-term Debt  

Notes payable and long-term debt obligations consist of the following:
December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

Notes payable under bank line of credit 1,575,000$                3,500,000$               
Notes payable under bank term note 5,219,000                  -                            
Notes payable, officers 300,007                     294,358                    
Note payable, shareholder 25,000                       25,000                      
Note payable, other 56,459                       39,983                      
Total 7,175,466                  3,859,341                 
Less current portion, term note 915,000                     -                            
Less current portion, Notes payable 381,466                     359,341                    
Total long-term debt 5,879,000$                3,500,000$               

Notes payable under bank line of credit

Less than one year 915,000$                   
2018 975,000                     
2019 1,035,000                  
2020 1,095,000                  
2021 1,199,000                  
Total 5,219,000$                

The prior bank line of credit originated in October 2007, with one financial institution, providing for maximum borrowing of $3,500,000, with
all borrowing due at the end of the term.  As of December 31, 2014, the agreement had been extended to October 1, 2016, and in September 
2015 was further amended to extend the date by one year to October 1, 2017.  The notes bore interest at the lender's base rate less one-half
percent, but in no case was the rate less than 4% per annum. As at December 31, 2015 and at December 31, 2014 borrowings totaled 
$3,500,000, with interest at 4%. Borrowings under the agreement were collateralized by substantially all of the Company's assets, and
additionally secured by letters of credit provided by two shareholders.  The Company was in compliance with the one financial covenant in 
the agreement as at December 31, 2015.

Subordinated debentures

In August 2012, the Company issued an aggregate of $300,000 of non-convertible debentures to two existing shareholders.  The debentures
originally bore interest at a rate of 10% per annum until April 29, 2013 and 18% per annum thereafter until the original maturity, to be
accrued and paid only upon the original maturity at October 1, 2013.  The net cash proceeds were approximately $295,000 after fees. 

The combined credit facility is secured by all of the assets of both subsidiaries, contains standard financial covenants, and includes other usual and 
customary terms and conditions.  The Company was in compliance with all new covenants as at December 31, 2016

As part of the September 2015 extension,  the underlying letters of credit were extended to January 5, 2018. As compensation for such extension, the 
Company issued to a director and major shareholder of the Company 113,255 common shares at a deemed issuance price of Cdn $0.26 per share 
with an aggregate value of US$22,500, recognized as interest expense.  In June 2016 an additional 71,839 shares were issued at a price of Cdn 
$0.20 with an aggregate value of US$11,250, also as interest expense. In July 2016 an additional 81,158 shares were issued at a price of Cdn $0.18 
with an aggregate value of US$11,250, also as interest expense. In September 2016 the letters of credit were returned and the Company had no 
further liability.

In September 2016 the Company negotiated and closed a new $8 million secured credit facility with a Massachusetts regional bank to replace the 
existing line of credit and facilitate the acquisition of Embryotech. The new credit facility includes a line of credit of up to $2.5 million (the “Revolver”), of 
which $1.5 million was drawn at closing, and a term loan of $5.5 million (the “Term Loan”).  The credit facility was obtained jointly by Hamilton Thorne, 
Inc. (“HTI”) and Embryotech Laboratories Inc. (“ELI”), both wholly owned subsidiaries of HTL. The facility replaced the prior $3.5 million revolving line 
of credit and resulted in net new borrowings of approximately $3.5 million.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015

The Revolver bears interest at the prime rate (currently 3.75%), matures two years from the closing date, and is renewable annually upon bank 
approval. Borrowings are subject to a standard borrowing base eligibility for receivables and inventories and are not subject to any periodic full 
repayment provisions.

Hamilton Thorne Ltd.

The Term Loan bears interest at a rate of 4.25% per annum, matures five years from the closing date, and includes an escalating amortization 
schedule as follows:
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  7. Notes Payable and Long-term Debt   (Continuing from previous page)

Note payable, shareholder

In October 2006 a shareholder advanced the Company $50,000 in return for a note payable upon demand with interest at the prime rate (3.25%)
at December 31, 2016 plus 1%. In November 2006, $25,000 was repaid. leaving $25,000 outstanding as at December 31, 2016 and 2015.

Note payable, other

During the years ended December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the Company financed $97,403 and $81,249, respectively of its insurance
premiums through installment notes with an insurance financing company.  The balances due as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 were $39,983
and $40,792 respectively. 

  8. Share Capital

There are an unlimited number of common shares authorized. The issued and outstanding common shares are 78,449,410 as at 
December 31, 2016 and 69,965,039 as at December 31, 2015. 

In June 2015 the Company completed a private placement of common stock, issuing 4,320,143 common shares at a price of Cdn $0.35
for proceeds of $1,201,769, less share issuance costs of $21,767, with no common shares issued to insiders. The unit transaction
consisted of 4,320,143 common shares and 2,160,071 warrants to acquire one common share at an exercise price of Cdn $0.45 for a 
period of 15 months following the closing.  The relative fair value of the each warrant was, using the Black-Scholes pricing model, determined
to be $0.0601 and amounted to $450,973 determined using a weighted average volatility of 155%,  risk-free interest rate of 1.00%, dividend 
yield and forfeiture rate of nil, and an expected life of fifteen months.  

In November 2015 the Company issued 5,720,500 common shares for the exercise of warrants issued in November 2014.  Warrants were
exercised at a price of CDN$0.20, for total proceeds of US$854,503, less issuance costs of $9,612. In May 2015, 99,500 warrants were exercised
for total proceeds of $15,959, and in November 2015 the remaining 1,680,000 warrants of the November 2014 private placement of 7,500,000
warrants expired (note 10).

In September 2013, prior to maturity, the debentures were amended to (i) extend the maturity date of the debentures from October 1, 2013 to October 
1, 2016; (ii) reduce the interest rate payable under the debentures to 10% per annum effective October 1, 2013 until the maturity date; and (iii) amend 
interest payment terms so that interest to September 30, 2013 shall be accrued and paid only upon maturity or earlier redemption of the debentures, 
while interest earned from and after October 1, 2013 shall be payable in arrears on a quarterly basis.  All other terms and conditions of the debentures, 
as amended, were ratified and confirmed.  In September 2016 the debentures were extended for one additional year on the same terms, and are 
classified as a portion of current Notes payable

In October 2015 the Company issued 113,255 common shares as compensation for extending a letter of credit as additional security for the 
Company’s committed line of credit for an additional year to November 2017.  The shares were issued to a director and major shareholder of the 
Company, at a deemed issuance price of Cdn $0.26 per share with an aggregate value of US$22,500 (note 7).

In September 2016 the Company issued  7,759,154 common shares as a portion of the purchase price of the acquisition of Embryotech.  The shares 
were issued at a deemed issuance price of Cdn $0.198 per share. The agreed upon share component value of US $1.175 million was calculated 
based on a twenty-day weighted- average stock price prior to agreement date and the average US to Canada foreign exchange rate for the prior five 
days. The share consideration was placed in escrow pending final calculation of certain closing adjustments and to satisfy any possible indemnity 
claims.  For purchase price consideration, the relative fair value of the issuance was determined to be $784,898, or $0.101 per share, less issuance 
costs of $52,700 utilizing the Black-Scholes pricing model, using a weighted average volatility of 80%,  risk-free interest rates of 1.84%, dividend yield 
and forfeiture rate of nil, and an expected life of one year.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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   9. Warrants

Activity consisted of the following for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015: Weighted   Weighted Average 
Average Exercise  Life Remaining 

$ Value Number   Price in Cdn $ in Years 

Outstanding at December 31, 2014 259,081$                                     7,500,000                         0.2000 0.88
  Issued    (1) 450,973                                       2,160,071                         0.4500 0.55
  Exercised (201,047)                                      (5,820,000)                       0.2000   -  
  Expired  (58,034) (1,680,000) 0.2000  -   
Outstanding at December 31, 2015 450,973 2,160,071 0.4500                       0.55
  Issued    (3) -                                               -                                     -    -  
  Exercised   (2) -                                               -                                     -    -  
  Expired  (2) (450,973) (2,160,071) 0.4500                       0.55
Outstanding at December 31, 2016 -$                                                   -    -    -  

Footnotes to the warrants table:
 (1)  In November 2014 a total of 7,500,000 warrants were issued in the common stock unit private placement. See Note 9.  The 
        warrants were subject to a discretionary Company call provision and were due to expire one year from issue on November 10 and 14, 2015.

 (2)  In November 2015, a total of 5,720,500 warrants were exercised at a price of CDN$0.20, for total proceeds of US$854,500, less issuance 
        costs of $9,612.  Warrants exercised by insiders totaled 1,770,500.  In May 2015, 99,500 warrants were exercised by insiders at CDN$0.20 
        for proceeds of US$15,940, and in November the remaining 1,680,000 warrants of the original issuance of 7,500,000 warrants expired.

 (3)  In June 2015 a total of 2,160,071 warrants were issued in the common stock unit private placement at a price of CDN$0.45. See Note 8.
       The warrants expired on September 9, 2016, fifteen months from the date of issue

10. Stock Option Plans

On August 4, 2009 the Company adopted the 2009 Stock Option Plan (the “2009 Plan”), including the roll-over and inclusion of the 2007 
HTI Plan.  Under the Plan, the board of directors of the Company may from time to time, in its discretion, and in accordance with the Exchange
requirements, grant to directors, employees, consultants and consultant companies options to purchase common shares, exercisable for a 
period of up to ten years from the date of grant.  The Plan was approved by the shareholders of the Company  in August 2009 and 3,431,830 
shares were reserved for issuance under the Plan.  In June 2010 the shareholders voted  to increase the number of shares reserved for issuance
under the Plan to a total of 4,800,000. In June 2012 a shareholder vote added 4,500,000, in June 2014 a shareholder vote added 1,100,000, and
 in June 2016 a shareholder vote added 3,575,000, for a total of 13,975,000 shares reserved for issuance under the Plan. At December 31, 2016 
there were 2,860,602 options available for future grants, and at December 31, 2015 there were 458,042 options available for future grants. 

The number of common shares reserved for issuance to any individual director or officer under the 2009 Plan may not exceed 5% of the 
issued and outstanding common shares and the number of common shares reserved for issuances to all consultants under the 2009 
Plan may not exceed 2% of the issued and outstanding common shares. The vesting requirements are determined by the Compensation
Committee of the Board.  In general, the options granted to directors vest over three years, and officers and employees vest over four years.

Options may be exercised no later than 90 days following cessation of the optionee’s position with the Company, 
provided that if the cessation of a participant was by reason of death or disability, the option may be exercised within 
a maximum period of one year after such death, subject to the expiry date of such option. Options granted may be 
“incentive stock options” for US participants. The exercise price per share shall be based on the closing sale price 
traded on an exchange on the date of grant.

                     

For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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10. Stock Option Plans (Continuing from previous page)

Activity consisted of the following for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015:
Weighted

Number of  Average Exercise
Options Price in Cdn $

Outstanding at December 31, 2014 7,741,367 0.1860
 Granted 2,294,500 0.3341
 Exercised (115,515) 0.0750
 Expired  -  
 Forfeited (125,159) 0.0700
Outstanding at December 31, 2015 9,795,193 0.2388
 Granted 1,400,224 0.1850
 Exercised (572,220) 0.0750
 Expired  -  
 Forfeited (227,794) 0.2446
Outstanding at December 31, 2016 10,395,403 0.2397

Exercisable at December 31, 2015 6,777,244                  0.2159
Exercisable at December 31, 2016 7,814,554                  0.2293

In May 2015, the Board granted options to directors, officers, and existing employees totaling 1,742,000 options at an exercise price of 
Cdn $0.36, vesting to directors over 36 months.  Options to employees, including the CEO, CFO, and CTO,  vest over 48 months.  Using the 
Black-Sholes model, the fair value weighted average of the grant was $510,980, or $0.02933 each. The fair value of options was determined using
a weighted average volatility of 223%,  risk-free interest rates of 2.0%, dividend yield and forfeiture rate of nil, and an expected life of 6.25 years.  
Volatility was estimated by using the Company's stock price for the 5.5 years of its existence. The expected life represents the period of time 
that options granted are expected to be outstanding.  The risk-free rate is based on the US Treasury notes rates with a term similar to the 

In August 2015, the Board granted options to a consultant totaling 100,000 options at an exercise price of Cdn $0.40, vesting immediately.
Using the Black-Sholes model, the fair value weighted average of the grant was $20,935, or $0.209 each. The fair value of options was 
determined using a weighted average volatility of 167%,  risk-free interest rates of 0.67%, dividend yield and forfeiture rate of nil, and an 
expected life of 1.9 years.  Volatility was estimated by using the Company's stock price for the last 1.9 years. The expected life represents 
the period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding.  The risk-free rate is based on the US Treasury notes rates with a 
term similar to the expected life of the options. 

In 2015, a total of 125,159 options were forfeited by three employees leaving the Company.

In November 2015, the Board granted options to new employees totaling 452,500 options at an exercise price of Cdn $0.22, vesting over 48 months.
Using the Black-Sholes model, the fair value weighted average of the grant was $74,043, or $0.1636 each. The fair value of options was 
determined using a weighted average volatility of 215%,  risk-free interest rates of 2.0%, dividend yield and forfeiture rate of nil, and an expected 
life of 6.25 years.  Volatility was estimated by using the Company's stock price for the six years of its existence. The expected life represents the 
period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding.  The risk-free rate is based on the US Treasury notes rates with a term similar 
to the expected life of the options. 

In February 2016, the Board granted options to management totaling 390,224 options at an exercise price of Cdn $0.18, vesting over 48 months.
Using the Black-Sholes model, the fair value weighted average of the grant was $50,404, or $0.1292 each. The fair value of options was 
determined using a weighted average volatility of 221%,  risk-free interest rates of 2.0%, dividend yield and forfeiture rate of nil, and an expected 
life of 6.25 years.  Volatility was estimated by using the Company's stock price for the estimated life. The expected life represents the 
period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding.  The risk-free rate is based on the US Treasury notes rates with a term similar 
to the expected life of the options. 

In September 2016, the Board granted options to new ELI employees totaling 1,010,000 options at an exercise price of Cdn $0.19, vesting over 
48 months. Using the Black-Sholes model, the fair value weighted average of the grant was $145,798, or $0.1444 each. The fair value of options 
was determined using a weighted average volatility of 203%,  risk-free interest rates of 1.51%, dividend yield and forfeiture rate of nil, and an 
expected life of 6.25 years.  Volatility was estimated by using the Company's stock price for the estimated life. The expected life represents the 
period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding.  The risk-free rate is based on the US Treasury notes rates with a term similar 
to the expected life of the options. 

For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015
Notes to the Consolidated Financial StatementsNotes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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10. Stock Option Plans (Continuing from previous page)

In 2016, a total of 227,784 options were forfeited by three employees leaving the Company.

The Company recorded share-based compensation expense of $273,510 and $305,042 during the years ended December 31, 2016
and 2015, respectively, which is included proportionately in departmental expenses. 

At December 31, 2016, the following stock options were outstanding under the Plan:
Exercise Number of Number of  Weighted Average 

Price Options Options  Life Remaining
Expiration date in Cdn $ Outstanding Exercisable In Years

August, 2017 0.4000 100,000                            100,000                     0.7
November, 2017 0.2176 387,764                            387,764                     0.9
January, 2018 0.2176 193,882                            193,882                     1.1
November, 2019 0.4000 1,812,839                         1,812,839                  1.8
May, 2020 0.2400 10,000                              10,000                       3.4
August, 2020 0.2050 348,056                            348,056                     3.7
December, 2020 0.2500 244,152                            244,152                     3.9
September, 2021 0.1800 971,606                            971,604                     4.7
November, 2022 0.1000 1,919,880                         1,919,880                  5.9
March, 2024 0.0500 968,750                            756,250                     8.2
May, 2025 0.3600 1,585,750                         679,521                     8.4
November, 2025 0.2200 452,500                            293,050                     8.9
February, 2026 0.1800 390,224                            97,556                       9.2
September, 2026 0.1900 1,010,000                         -                             9.7
Total 10,395,403                       7,814,554                  6.0

11. Segmented Information and Major Customers

The Company’s operations are comprised of a single reporting segment engaged within the United States. As such, the amounts reported
and disclosed in the consolidated financial statements for sales, net income, depreciation and amortization, and total assets also represent  
those of that segment.  Sales in the Americas comprised 34% of total sales, and 66% of sales are outside the Americas.

Enterprise sales consist of:
           Year ended December 31 

 2016  2015  

Equipment sales 8,226,069$                8,146,219$               
Services and consumables 2,288,734 887,639
  Total 10,514,803$              9,033,858$               

The Company had sales to three major distributors which exceeded 10% of revenues in each of the years ended December 31, 2016 and
2015. Aggregate sales to the three distributors were approximately 41% and 50%,  respectively.  Aggregate accounts receivable for the three
distributors were approximately 34% and 72%, for the two years as at December 31, 2016, and 2015 respectively, and were fully paid in the 
following January, February and March of each year.

12. Income Taxes

The Company has not recognized deferred tax assets as it is not yet probable that the Company's future taxable profits will be available against
which the deferred tax assets can be utilized in the near future. 

Hamilton Thorne Ltd.

For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015
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12. Income Taxes    (continuing from the previous page)

The Company's current income tax expense for each of the years ended December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 was $18,000 and
$19,000, respectively.  The reconciliation of income tax expense to the effective statutory tax rates is as follows: 

                       Year ended December 31, 2016                      Year ended December 31, 2015                
Tax Amount Effective Rate Tax Amount Effective Rate

Net income 678,947$                                     1,027,534$                

Expected income tax expense 271,579                                       40.0% 272,297                     26.5%
Permanent differences 135,298                                       1.1% 14,711                       1.1%
Other taxes not reduced by tax losses 18,000                                         1.8% 19,000                       1.8%
Impact of rate adjustment on US 
operations -                                                 -  138,717                     13.5%
Utilization of previously unrecognized tax 
losses (406,877)                                      -41.1% (425,725)                    -41.1%
Income tax expense 18,000$                                       1.8% 19,000$                     1.8%

 2016  2015  
Temporary differences 675,066$                   1,424,491$               
Net Operating Losses carried forward - US Federal 25,760,895                26,086,256               
Net Operating Losses carried forward - US States 974,980                     788,689                    
Total deductible temporary differences 27,410,941$              28,299,435$             

The future benefit of these federal Net Operating Losses may be limited on an annual basis and in total under Section 382 of the US Internal  
Revenue Code as a result of prior and future ownership changes. The Company has not yet recognized deferred tax assets related to these
amounts, as it is not yet probable that these carryforward losses and temporary differences will be utilized in the foreseeable future.

Net Operating Losses Carryforward (20-year) - US Federal
Loss Year Expire in Amount Remaining
2001 2021 2,494,064$                
2002 2022 3,950,116                  
2003 2023 3,128,888                  
2004 2024 2,843,576                  
2005 2025 2,643,584                  
2006 2026 1,428,523                  
2007 2027 2,263,932                  
2008 2028 1,264,716                  
2009 2029 1,319,193                  
2010 2030 1,510,065                  
2011 2031 1,586,383                  
2012 2032 1,327,855                  
Total 25,760,895$              

U.S. Income Tax Status

Deferred taxes are provided as a result of temporary differences that arise due to the differences between the income tax values and the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the following deductible temporary differences:
Deferred taxes are provided as a result of temporary differences that arise due to the differences between the income tax values and the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the following deductible temporary differences:

U.S. federal tax legislation was enacted in 2004 to address perceived U.S. tax concerns in “corporate inversion” transactions. A “corporate inversion” 
generally occurs when a non-U.S. corporation acquires “substantially all” of the equity interests in, or the assets of, a U.S. corporation or partnership, if, 
after the acquisition, former equity holders of the U.S. corporation or partnership own a specified level of stock in the non-U.S. corporation. The tax 
consequences of these rules depend upon the percentage identity of stock ownership that results. Generally, in the “80-percent identity” transactions, 
i.e. former equity holders of the U.S. corporation owns 80% or more of the equity of the non-U.S. acquiring entity (excluding certain equity interests), 
the tax benefits of the inversion are limited by treating the non-U.S. acquiring entity as a domestic entity for U.S. tax purposes. In the “60-80 percent 
identity” transactions, the benefits of the inversion are limited by barring certain corporate-level “toll charges” from being offset by certain tax attributes 
of the U.S. corporation (e.g. loss carryforwards), and imposing excise taxes on certain stock based compensation held by “insiders” of the U.S. 
corporation.

Hamilton Thorne Ltd.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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13. Commitments

 The Company is committed under operating leases for rental of offices and equipment.  Future minimum annual rentals are as follows:

Less than one year 457,746$                   
One to three years 901,092                     
Greater than three years 2,137,927                  
Total 3,496,765$                

The Company renegotiated and extended it's primary office space lease in February 2017, extending an additional nine years with favorable 
pricing and leasehold improvements.

14. Expenses by Function

A schedule of the Company's expenses for cost of goods sold and all operating expenses for the years ended is as follows:

           Year ended December 31 
 2016  2015  

Employee wages and benefits 3,125,353$                2,752,015$               
Share-based payments expense 273,510                     305,042                    
Leases 440,587                     367,545                    
Depreciation and amortization 284,519                     79,137                      
Impairment of assets -                             -                            
Other 5,413,364                  4,253,901                 
Total 9,537,333$                7,757,640$               

15. Capital Management

The Company’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern in order to pursue 
the continued development and commercialization of its technologies and to provide financial flexibility. In the management 
of capital, the Company includes the components of shareholders’ equity as well as its debt, and totaled approximately
$8,839,538 and $5,492,741 as at December 31, 2016 and 2015 respectively.  

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk 
characteristics of its underlying assets. To maintain or adjust its capital structure, the Company may
attempt to issue new shares, raise new debt or enter into new capital leases.  

There are no externally imposed capital requirements other than our standard bank covenants applicable to the line of credit and term loan 
as of December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015. 

16. Financial Instruments

Fair Value 

The Company’s carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities
approximate their fair values due to the immediate or short-term maturity of these instruments.

The carrying values of the notes payable, capital lease obligations, and long-term debt approximate their fair value as the interest 
rates are consistent with the current market rates for debt with similar terms.

The following is a summary of the Company's categories of financial instruments outstanding as at December 31, 2016:
Cash and cash equivalents Fair value through profit and loss 
Accounts receivable Loans and receivables
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Other financial liabilities at amortized cost
Notes payable Other financial liabilities at amortized cost
Long-term debt Other financial liabilities at amortized cost

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)
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16. Financial Instruments (Continuing from previous page)

Carrying value is equal to the fair value of financial assets and liabilities in all periods presented, and is summarized as follows:

December 31, 2016    December 31, 2015
Carrying value Carrying value
and Fair value and Fair value

Fair value through profit and loss 1,837,655$                4,293,343$               
Accounts receivable 1,638,651                  1,209,429                 
Other financial liabilities at amortized cost 8,609,324$                5,220,905$               

Financial instruments recorded at fair value on the consolidated statement of financial position are classified using a fair value hierarchy that 
reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:
            Level 1 - valuation based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
            Level 2 - valuation techniques based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the 
                             asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices);
            Level 3 - valuation techniques using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
                            
The fair value hierarchy requires the use of observable market inputs whenever such inputs exist. A financial instrument is classified to the
lowest level of the hierarchy for which a significant input has been considered in measuring fair value.

Cash and cash equivalents are classified as a Level 1 financial instrument. During the years ended December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 
there have been no transfers of amounts between Levels. There are no items classified in Levels 2 and 3.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market interest rates. Financial assets and financial liabilities with variable interest rates expose the Company to cash
flow interest rate risk. Financial assets and financial liabilities that bear interest at fixed rates are subject to fair value 
interest rate risk. All of the Company’s notes payable and long-term debt bear interest at variable rates. The carrying values
of the notes payable and long-term debt approximate their fair value as the interest rates are consistent with the current

prime rate offered in the credit market.  Increases in interest rates could have a material impact on the Company's

net income and comprehensive income.
For the year ended December 31, 2016, a change in interest rate relating to the notes payable under the bank line of credit of 1% would have
increased interest expense by approximately $15,000 (approximately $35,000 for 2015).

Foreign Exchange Rate Risk

Foreign exchange rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of the change in
market foreign exchange rates. Financial assets and financial liabilities that bear foreign exchange at fixed rates are subject to foreign exchange

Credit Risk

As at December 31, 2016, the Company had a concentrated credit risk with three major distributors totaling $583,000 and 34% of its accounts
receivables, and as at December 31, 2015, three major distributors totaling $851,000 and 67%.   
As at December 31, 2016 the Company's aging of accounts receivables was as follows: 84% under 30 days (current), 8% past due one to 30 days, 
and 8% past due 31 or more days.  As at December 31, 2015, the aging of accounts receivable was approximately 79% under 30 days (current), 
18% past due one to 30 days, and 3% past due 31 or more days.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015
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Credit risk arises from the potential that a counter-party will fail to perform its obligations. The Company is exposed to credit risk from customers. In 
order to reduce its credit risk, the Company reviews a new customer's credit history before extending credit and conducts regular reviews of its existing 
customers' credit performance. Frequently the Company will request either a letter of credit or advance payment terms for new customers. An 
allowance for doubtful accounts is established based upon specific factors surrounding the credit risk of specific accounts, historical trends and other 
information. Over the past years, the Company has experienced few bad debt write offs and accordingly its allowance as at December 31, 2016 and 
2015 is $83,800 and $68,700 respectively.  It is management’s opinion that the Company is not exposed to any significant price or currency risk arising 
from these financial instruments.



16. Financial Instruments (Continuing from previous page)

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company would not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come to maturity or can only do so at
excessive costs. Based on the Company’s ability to generate cash flows through its ongoing operations and financing activities, management 
believes that cash flows are sufficient to cover its known operating and capital requirements, as well as its debt servicing costs. The Company
however, could not, without restructuring its bank line of credit, meet its longer term commitments. Therefore, management evaluates that the
Company’s liquidity risk is moderate to high, at this time.  The Company is now examining its options, which may include replacing or extending
the current bank line, raising additional equity and other financing alternatives.

The maturity dates of the Company’s financial liabilities are as follows:
Contractual   Maturing in Maturing

Carrying amount cash flows  the next 12 months in 13 to 60 months
As at December 31, 2016:

liabilities 1,420,058$                                  1,420,058$                       1,420,058$                -$                          
Long-term debt - bank line of credit and 6,794,000 6,794,000 915,000                     5,879,000
Obligations under capital leases   -      -      -      -    

   Subordinated debentures 300,007 300,007 300,007
Notes payable 87,491 87,491 87,491   -    
Total 8,601,556$                                  8,601,556$                       2,722,556$                5,879,000$               

As at December 31, 2015:
liabilities 1,361,564$                                  1,361,564$                       1,361,564$                -$                          
Long-term debt - bank line of credit 3,500,000 3,500,000   -    3,500,000
Obligations under capital leases   -      -      -      -    

   Subordinated debentures 294,358 294,358 294,358
Notes payable 64,983 64,983 64,983   -    
Total 5,220,905$                                  5,220,905$                       1,720,905$                3,500,000$               

17. Related Party Transactions

In August 2012, two Company insiders (major shareholders) purchased $300,000 of non-convertible subordinated debentures. 

In November 2014, Company insiders (a major shareholder and officers) purchased 1,871,000 common shares and warrants for approximately
$165,000 in a private placement at Cdn $ 0.10 per equity unit, including warrants.  The warrants were scheduled to expire in one year in November 2015.

In November 2015, Company insiders (a major shareholder and officers) exercised 1,770,500 warrants at a price of Cdn$0.20, for total proceeds
of US$269,000. In May 2015, 99,500 warrants were exercised by insiders at Cdn$0.20 for approximately US $16,000.

In September 2013, prior to maturity, the debentures were amended to (i) extend the maturity date of the debentures from October 1, 2013 to October 
1, 2016; (ii) reduce the interest rate payable under the debentures to 10% per annum effective October 1, 2013 until the maturity date; and (iii) amend 
interest payment terms so that interest to September 30, 2013 shall be accrued and paid only upon maturity or earlier redemption of the debentures, 
while interest earned from and after October 1, 2013 shall be payable in arrears on a quarterly basis.  All other terms and conditions of the debentures, 
as amended, were ratified and confirmed.  

In October 2015 the Company issued 113,255 common shares as compensation for extending a letter of credit as additional security for the 
Company’s committed line of credit for an additional year to November 2017.  The shares were issued to a director and major shareholder of the 
Company, at a deemed issuance price of Cdn$0.26 per share with an aggregate value of US$22,500.  The Company has also agreed to issue this 
director and shareholder up to an additional US$45,000 worth of common shares in the next two years in two equal installments in 2016 and 2017, 
respectively. Such additional shares will be issued at a deemed price equal to the applicable market price of the shares prior to the respective date of 
issuance.

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)
For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015

Hamilton Thorne Ltd.
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17. Related Party Transactions  (Continuing from previous page)

The Company's related parties include key management personnel, comprised of the senior executives and directors. Compensation is as 
follows for the years ended December 31:

 2016  2015  

Remuneration 1,107,734$                871,500$                  
Share-based payments 196,045 152,739
  Total 1,303,779$                1,024,239$               

18. Subsequent Event

21

In September 2016 the Company issued 7,759,154 common shares to a corporation that is wholly owned by the President of the Company’s new 
Embryotech subsidiary as a portion of the purchase price of the acquisition of Embryotech.  The shares were issued at a deemed issuance price of 
Cdn$0.198 per share. The aggregate share component of US$1.175 million was calculated based on a twenty-day weighted- average stock price prior 
to agreement date and the average US to Canada foreign exchange rate for the prior five days. The share consideration was placed in escrow 
pending final calculation of certain closing adjustments and to satisfy any possible indemnity claims.  In addition, at the time of the closing of the 
acquisition, Embryotech entered into a lease with a real estate entity also wholly owned by the President of the Company’s new Embryotech 
subsidiary.  The five-year lease covers the premises occupied by Embryotech and calls for annual rental payments at market value, subject to cost of 
living escalators. 

On April 25, 2017 the Compensation Committee recommended and the Board of Directors granted 2,685,000 stock options to directors, management, 
and employees, including the CEO, CFO, and CTO,  vesting over 48 months.  The options were issued at Cdn$0.59, the closing market price on April 
24, 2017. Following that grant, there were 175,602 remaining options available for future grants.  All options expire 10 years from grant date.

Hamilton Thorne Ltd.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015
(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)
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